



Master's Thesis 2021 60 ECTS

Faculty of Landscape and Society

Labour against Ecology. A
Theoretical Approach to Work as a
Contributor to Environmental Crises
and the Case for the Abolition of
Labour

Victor Elias Okpe

International Environmental Studies

The Department of International Environment and Development Studies, Noragric, is the international gateway for the Norwegian University of Life Sciences (NMBU). Established in 1986, Noragric's contribution to international development lies in the interface between research, education (Bachelor, Master and PhD programmes) and assignments.

The Noragric Master's theses are the final theses submitted by students in order to fulfil the requirements under the Noragric Master's programmes 'International Environmental Studies', 'International Development Studies' and 'International Relations'.

The findings in this thesis do not necessarily reflect the views of Noragric. Extracts from this publication may only be reproduced after prior consultation with the author and on condition that the source is indicated. For rights of reproduction or translation contact Noragric.

© Victor Elias Okpe, August 2021 Victor.e.okpe@gmail.com

Noragric

Department of International Environment and Development Studies The Faculty of Landscape and Society P.O. Box 5003 N-1432 Ås Norway

Tel.: +47 67 23 00 00

Internet: https://www.nmbu.no/fakultet/landsam/institutt/noragric

Declaration

I, Victor Elias Okpe, declare that this thesis is a result of my research investigations and findings. Sources of information other than my own have been acknowledged and a reference list has been appended. This work has not been previously submitted to any other university for award of any type of academic degree.

Signature. Gold -Low

Abstract

The present ecological crises call for fundamental transformations of capitalist society. However, these calls seem to not include the transformation of labour as a social structure, only its technical aspects. To rectify this lack, this thesis contributes to developing a critique of labour and its mechanisms as a social relation from an ecological standpoint. This thesis investigates this question along three lines: first, the question of which aspects of labour drive ecological impact, and what drives aspects. Second, it considers the limits of policy approaches that do not change qualitatively labour itself. Third, it discusses the political implications from the preceding analysis. The approach is theoretical and uses existing literature to develop its arguments.

To build an understanding of labour and its impacts, I primarily use the one extant publication on this topic, that of Maja Hoffmann and Roland Paulsen, and give a revised version of their four factors of labour's ecological impact – the time, scale, income and work-induced infrastructure and mobility factors. To better explain why these factors happen and propagate, I introduce Moishe Postone's Marxist understanding of labour and value to show that as labour constitutes value, the dominant form of wealth, labour is driven by the a-ecological logic of value, and results in and drives the aforementioned factors.

The discussion of two current policy approaches, work time reduction and universal basic income, finds that as long as they only change labour's quantities, such as the length of the working day, as opposed to its qualities, they can only temporarily lessen the impacts of labour. These approaches do not remove the dynamics of value and the aforementioned factors from labour.

Regarding political implications, the overall conclusion is that the abolition of labour is a necessary condition for sustainability, and that human productive activities should be organised in a different manner. The why and how production must change – the metabolism of humans and nature must be actively regulated, and production must happen for specific goals and not value. Production should conform to ecological rhythms, not uniform and abstract time norms. Productivity improvements should not be to the detriment of ecological integrity. Productive activity should not be subject to the wages system or something like it, wherein participation in production is necessary to gain the means of subsistence. These qualitative social changes must happen with and not instead of changes in technical aspects and the quantitative level of production.

Acknowledgements

Finishing this thesis marks the end of eight years of university studies along a crooked path, and I want to give thanks to all those academics who have taken the time to answer my incessant questions and give advice through the years.

Thank you to my supervisor, Arild Vatn, for with a steady hand giving constructive and indispensable feedback throughout the process. I would also like to thank Erik Gómez-Baggethun for giving helpful feedback during the earliest stages of development.

Writing a thesis is an arduous task and has not been made less so by the covid-19 pandemic. I would like to thank my friends, both on- and offline, for providing support throughout and making this whole ordeal bearable. Finally, I would like to thank my parents and foster parents, for all having raised me and made me capable of finishing this effort.

Table of Contents

Abstract	3
Acknowledgements	4
Part I	7
1 Introduction	7
1.1 Research Questions	8
1.2 Thesis structure	9
2 Methodology	11
3 Ecology and Capitalism	16
3.1 Humans and Nature	16
3.2 Planetary Boundaries and Ecological Crises	18
3.3 Capitalism and Growth	20
Part II	22
4 Hoffmann and Paulsen	23
4.1 Hoffmann and Paulsen's Ecological Critique of Work	23
4.2 Initial Comments on Hoffmann and Paulsen's Factors	24
5. A Marxist Understanding of Labour	27
5.1 Labour and its Dual Character	27
5.2 Labour, Metabolism, Nature	28
5.3 Abstract Labour and Abstract Time	29
5.4 Marx's Theory of Value and Forms of Wealth	31
5.5 Postone, Marx and Hoffmann and Paulsen	34
6 Unpaid "Labour"	36
7 The Work Ethic	38
7.1 Identifying the Work Ethic	38
7.2 The Workings of the Work Ethic	38
7.4 Abstraction and Ecology	40
8. Labour	42
8.1 Defining Labour	42
8.2 Labour and Metabolism	44
8.3 Labour and Value	45
8.4 The Ecological Impacts of Labour: Hoffmann and Paulsen's Framework	47
8.4.1 Time	47
8.4.2 Scale	49

	8.4.3 Income	51
	8.4.4 Work-Induced Infrastructure and Mobility	53
	8.5 Concluding Remarks – Labour	55
P	art III	57
	9 Normative Preconditions	58
	10 Work Time Reduction (WTR)	60
	11 Universal Basic Income (UBI)	66
	12 The Problems of Labour	68
	12.1 Valuation	68
	12.2 Time and Scale	69
	12.3 Income and Work-Induced Infrastructure and Mobility	70
	13. The Abolition of Labour	73
	13.1 The Meanings of Abolition and Postwork	73
	13.2 What Does Abolition Entail?	75
	13.3 Labour, Abolition and Political Change	77
	14. Conclusions	81
	References	85
	Appendix: Glossary	91

Part I

1 Introduction

Humanity is in a time of ecological crises. Climate change marches onward, while the integrity of the biosphere deteriorates rapidly. The ultimate cause of these crises is the currently dominant economic system – capitalism, and its incessant need for economic growth (Angus, 2016; Hickel & Kallis, 2019). While there may not be agreement on the precise cause of the current predicament, even the top-level panels on biodiversity, IPBES, and climate change, IPCC, gathering the research consensus on their respective topics, conclude that transformative societal change is necessary (IPBES, 2019; IPCC, 2018). More overtly radical political approaches also argue that transforming society is necessary, such as those in the degrowth movement (see Demaria et al., 2013) or ecosocialists and Eco-Marxists (e.g. Burkett, 1999/2014; Angus, 2016).

Capitalism, then, is an obstacle to achieving ecologically sustainable societies. Above all else, capitalism is a system of production, giving particular arrangements for how production happens, why some things are produced and not others. If this system poses a problem, one should reasonably assume that the parts that make it up also constitute problems for sustainability, or at least they should be investigated to determine whether that is the case.

Labour is one of these components of capitalism – that is, labour as a social category and structure specific to capitalism. Environmental crises and labour are regularly discussed together, and how to ensure "green" jobs for all is generally the chief concern, both among politicians and in labour movements. That is, the question is how to achieve both full employment and ecological sustainability, as many jobs, for example those in the fossil fuel industry – would have to cease to exist (see Barca, 2019).

In other words, discourse centres around how to ensure there is enough labour, jobs, to go around. That labour itself does not pose an ecological problem is taken as given. To the extent that any problem is acknowledged, it is either tied to the specific jobs that exist currently, which could simply be replaced with other jobs, or the solution offered is to reduce the standard length of work time. This latter type of policy has different configurations, but typically it will share what work there is around to more people, give people more leisure time in general as well as reduce greenhouse gas

¹ The Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services and The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, respectively.

emissions (Frey, 2019; Bernmar, 2017; Kallis et al., 2013). Labour as a social structure otherwise remains unchanged.

This situation, where labour itself is not really delved into from an ecological perspective, stands in stark contrast to how labour has been approached as a purely social issue. There is a long line of literature discussing labour itself as a problem and a root of problems, ranging at least from the 19th century (Marx, 1867/1990; Lafargue, 1883), to the present day – even a cursory look at the last couple of years provides several books that directly critique work itself (Jaffe, 2021; Horgan, 2021; Pfannenbecker & Smith, 2020). These literatures critique not only the quantity of work, the long hours and short weekends, but also labour itself, as a social structure and concept (Marx, 1867/1990; Weeks, 2011).

In my opinion, the lack of similar types of investigations from an ecological standpoint leaves a large blind spot in the efforts toward building a sustainable future. With only one paper – by Maja Hoffmann and Roland Paulsen (2020) – as the exception,² there seems to be no studies considering whether the social structure of labour itself is an ecological problem. That is, studies critiquing not only how much labour is done, but rather what dynamics it generates as a specific type of human activity.

If labour itself is an ecological problem, then the currently dominant approaches to resolving the dilemma of work and the environment are fundamentally insufficient. If labour has dynamics, *qualities*, that generate ecological destruction, then current politics that only change labour's *quantitative* aspects will not resolve the underlying problems. I argue that this is the case – labour, a social structure constituted in capitalism, has certain mechanisms that makes it drive ecological degradation. The purpose of this thesis is to contribute to investigating this claim and the normative and political implications it carries.

1.1 Research Questions

In this thesis I will argue that *labour*, a historically specific form of organising human productive activity, is in itself an ecological problem, and that resolving this problem requires steps beyond changing the quantitative size of labour – rather, it requires, qualitatively, *labour's complete abolition* and replacement with a different social structure for productive activity. I make this argument through answering the following three research questions (RQs):

² The paper is based on Hoffmann's (2017) master thesis.

RQ1 What are the ecological problems of labour, and why do they happen?

Answering this question requires both establishing a concept of human-nature relations (established in part I) and a definition of labour. Through this, a relation between labour and ecology will be established, and the problems of this relation discussed. This discussion will also consider *why* these problems appear and persist, considering labour's mechanisms of operation within capitalism.

Concluding on RQ1 gives a basis for providing a critique of political approaches that want to solve the problems of labour and ecology only through changes in quantitative manners, without changing labour in terms of its *qualities*:

RQ2 Why are quantitative approaches to solving ecological problems of labour insufficient?

The argument will not be one of complete rejection of these types of policies, but of the insufficiency of a purely quantitative approach to labour and ecology.

Finally, with the ecological problems of labour of labour identified in RQ1, and the limitations of quantitative approaches shown in RQ2, RQ3 discusses what politics that can be drawn from the preceding analysis:

RQ3 What are the normative and political implications of the ecological problems of labour? This RQ concerns both the abolition of labour itself, as well as the political directions implied by the specific problematic aspects and dynamics of labour, as identified in RQ1.

1.2 Thesis structure

Part I of this thesis begins with this introduction as chapter 1, while chapter 2 discusses methodological aspects. Chapter 3 establishes the views on the humanity-nature distinction and relationship, the conceptualisation of ecological crises as well as on capitalism and economic growth as ecological problems. These views form the background premises for the subsequent chapters of this thesis.

Part II starts with discussing existing scholarship on labour, beginning with Hoffmann and Paulsen's (2020) study of the ecological harmful factors of labour in chapter 4, followed in chapter 5 by a Marxist approach to labour and value, through the lens of Postone's (1993) reconstruction of Marx. Subsequently, I discuss the borders of labour and non-labour activity in chapter 6, and the work ethic in chapter 7. Chapter 8 brings these discussions together. I provide a definition of labour and discuss its relation to the metabolism of humans and nature as well as the relevance of value to labour's

destructive tendencies. Subsequently, I discuss and revise Hoffmann and Paulsen's factors of labour's ecological destruction, as well as their relation to value, before summarising the chapter. It is in this part, and especially in chapter 8, that RQ 1 is answered.

Part III begins with discussing normative premises for the subsequent political discussions in chapter 9. After that, I will consider two approaches that I consider insufficient to changing labour *qualitatively* – work time reduction and universal basic income, in chapters 10 and 11, respectively. Those two chapters answer RQ2. Subsequently, I move to discuss the political problems that are posed by labour in chapter 12. RQ 3 is answered by chapters 12 and 13. Chapter 13 discusses the abolition of labour as the necessary way out of labour's ecological problems in chapter, as well as aspects of what a post-labour situation would need to entail in chapter. After that, I briefly discuss aspects of political change, including what actors that could have an interest in enacting such fundamental change. Finally, I provide an overall conclusion to the thesis with chapter 14.

As many terms are introduced and put to use throughout the thesis, I have an appendix with a glossary of a selection the terms.

2 Methodology

The arguments made in this thesis are of a theoretical nature. I am not discussing the ecological impacts of labour in terms of *quantity*, but in in terms of *quality*. In this thesis, labour is considered as a historically specific *social structure* with certain qualities that drive ecological impacts of human productive activity. The central premise is that beyond the contingent quantitative aspects, there are inherent qualitative ones that drives labour to give quantitative ecological impacts.

I situate this investigation within critical realism. Within this tradition, (social) reality is stratified into the *real*, the *actual*, and the *empirical*. The *empirical* is the level of appearance, the social events that can be observed. The *actual* is the level of all active observable and non-observable (social) mechanisms, whereas the *real* is the level of mechanisms, tendencies themselves, whether they are activated or not in a single event (Benton & Craib, 2010; Gorski, 2013; Vatn, 2015). As such, the existence of social structures, or mechanisms, is not reliant on our knowledge of them, including that our everyday practices can produce and reproduce social structures without at all appearing to us to do so. Moreover, social structures attain and have emergent properties beyond what is intended with any instance of practice within them (Joseph, 1998).

When I am investigating labour and ecology in this thesis, I am working at the levels of the actual and the real – I want to discern the *real* aspects of labour that give labour's *actual* ecological impacts, while not trying to empirically observe labour as the cause of any specific instance of environmental damage. In other words, my interest lies is the essential aspects of labour as a social structure, not the specific appearances.³ While the latter and former are mutually reliant, they are not the same thing – the underlying structure is not the same as the particular instance (Moses, 2020). Social reality can be said to have *generative mechanisms*, which may or may not be exercised in the specific instance – they are tendencies, meaning also that mechanisms may have different powers in different situations (Joseph, 1998). As such, while labour may have generative mechanisms as general tendencies, it may not be the case that these mechanisms are apparent in every instance of labour as observable activity.

This thesis is a theoretical study, investigating labour through engaging with existing literature. The analyses do not then take the form of empirical research and results, but is done through reasoned, critical, evaluation of previous relevant literature on labour. These literatures therefore both form

separated from actual reality and *appearance*. Both are historically and socially contingent – the distinction here is rather about discerning between concrete social activity and social structures (see Joseph, 1998).

³ In this context, *essence* should not be understood as being of a realm of unchanging objects, completely

the bases for understanding labour, ecological crises and human-nature relations, while at the same time being objects of critique.

What, then, do I mean by a reasoned approach? The problems of labour that I am investigating are really things underlying and structuring concrete social practices, as well as being produced and shaped by those concrete practices (Joseph, 1998). As such, any developments made and conclusions drawn must make sense of the world and make sense with the world. The latter means that the logic of whatever understanding I end up with must be compatible with perceivable socio-ecological reality. By the former, I mean both that the conclusions drawn must give a further (or different type of) understanding of the world than mere observation would do and what extant theories do; additionally, my position is that the conclusions should give a (more) satisfactory understanding or explanation of the current state of affairs.

This way of reasoning can be understood as a form of *abduction* – which can be described as "inference to best explanation" (Douven, 2017). Instead of sticking only to what can be inferred as necessary from the premises (deduction) or from statistics only (induction), abduction also appeals to explanatory value as a criterion. That is, a selected conclusion can be seen as valid if it makes (logical) sense *and* gives a satisfactory explanation of what is being analysed (Douven, 2017). In my case, this means producing an understanding of the relation between ecological crises and labour that is reasonable – that it makes logical sense and can be *and is* thoroughly reasoned for. Moreover, the produced understanding should be explanatory (explains the state of affairs), more so than the material (that is, the literature used) it builds upon.

Up until now I have only discussed understanding and critique, the focus of RQs 1 and 2. However, this thesis is also concerned with normative, political questions – especially in RQ3. Normative statements, value judgements, are not the same as analysis. At the same time, critical realism posits a connection between knowledge and emancipation, at least insofar as revealing the truth of social structures reveals oppression (Benton & Craib, 2010; Gorski, 2013), and encourages normative critique (Vatn, 2015; Hoffmann, 2017). This should not be understood as research being the only possible source of normative values and value judgements (Gorski, 2013), but since social structures are ultimately human, they can also be changed if their workings are known (Joseph, 1998).

My discussion of normative aspects in RQ3 – as undertaken in part III of the thesis – will be based both on the critique of labour developed in part II, as well as certain normative premises. The developed knowledge and the declared value judgements will be combined to give a reasoned discussion of what should happen with labour given those premises.

However, the normative discussion of what must be done is limited. It will be constrained to discuss what mechanisms must be abolished and why. The discussion of possible new forms of organising production is chiefly limited to how they necessarily must be different from the old ones, so as to avoid the same problems reappearing. At the same time, I discuss what *direction* a new politics should take, without giving detailed proposals of new institutional arrangements. That is, the political discussion, too, concerns the level of the real and actual, and not the empirical.

Since the analysis that precedes it works at the level of underlying mechanisms, the subsequent normative discussion is also limited by the scope of that analysis. A discussion of more concrete policies would require an additional approach that could bring in the empirical level of concrete practices as they are currently done — it would require an empirical overview of what happens and would necessitate the ability to say what part of a given practice is due to the mechanisms discussed as opposed to other societal mechanisms. Such an effort is beyond scope of this thesis, as well as its practical limits.

The criteria for selection of literature to study and evaluate is also an important methodological issue in a thesis like this. Two aspects seem important. First, there is the use of empirical information; second, the selection of theoretical approaches to engage with. Regarding the first, empirical sources serve two purposes in my analysis. One is, together with accompanying theory, to establish the background for the entire investigation – that is, establishing what understanding of society and human-nature relations that I take as given premises. This is primarily done in chapter 3. The other purpose of empirical research is to make sure that theory fits with reality, meaning that theory is applied to empirical statements, which I especially do in the chapters in part III. One use forms the background for theory, the other is itself an object of theory. In both cases, I have not attempted full literature reviews, but tried to reach a point of saturation, where further reading has not provided much new relevant material.

The second aspect of literature selection concerns the theoretical approaches to labour. Here, the situation is more complicated. As discussed, Hofmann and Paulsen (2020) seem to be the only ones providing a specifically ecological critique of labour, which is something they themselves state, and I have not found anything indicating that this is not true. This implies that their developments constitute a central part of the material for this thesis. At the same time, there is a wealth of *social* critiques of labour. I will not give a comprehensive review of these traditions but have selected those that have appeared to be most relevant to my purposes. What figures most heavily outside Hoffmann and Paulsen is Postone's (1993) Marxist based work – giving his reconstruction of Marx's critical theory, focusing specifically on labour. Marxism has proved useful, as it treats labour as a

social structure to be investigated, and Postone has been selected specifically, because his work seems to have the most thorough investigation of the role of labour among the Marxists. Other publications in Marxist traditions discuss labour, but seem to not really consider labour *in depth*, instead focusing more on issues of distribution and property.

Beyond this, I have selected critiques of work that consider certain other aspects of labour. Both Weeks (2011) and Frayne (2015) discuss labour less in terms of its internal workings as a social structure, but rather its social role in a broader sense – its impacts on and structuring of people's quality of life and wellbeing, impacts on other spheres of activity such as household activity, as well as the work ethic that gives a socially overt compulsion to have a job. The research efforts of Munro (2019) and of Barca (2019, 2020) I have used to create links between labour and other human activity, which also has entailed considerations on what is specific to labour as opposed to other doings of humans. Together, I believe these selections, while non-comprehensive, have enabled a detailed investigation into labour that furthers the ecological critique of it.

I will also note, as contrast, some literature that has been excluded from in-depth treatment here. Most significant in terms of effort on my part is Arendt's *the human condition* (1958/2018), wherein she discusses the *vita activa* – the active human life and different types of human activity. While an extensive part on this work was planned to be included, it was scrapped, as Arendt's work did not, in my final view, add anything new to the analysis that was not already covered by the selected literature. The aim was to utilize her framework to show that different types of human activity were different and could be categorised differently than simply as labour. However, this ended up only generating a need to make another set of terminology and framework compatible with the others used, while providing little of the way in increased understanding of the ecological problems of work, even with the literature that reads Arendt in an ecological context.⁴

Others have been excluded for from the outset not having much relevance. While I, in my critique, are interested in aspects of labour itself, many critiques eschew such discussions and focus more on the effects on the bodies and psyches of workers, wider social consequences and so on, often also with alternative ethical frameworks, praising leisure instead, for example (see e.g. Lafargue, 1883; Graeber, 2018; Jaffe, 2021). These are not irrelevant aspects, but I believe them to be adequately covered by those authors selected e.g. Weeks (2011), Frayne (2015) and Barca (2020). Others again purport to be against labour, but the critique seems to end up in not being interested in changing labour per se, but rather changing its quantity or other aspects that did not really entail a qualitative

14

⁴ See for example Whiteside, 1994). Especially the discussions of Hoffman and Paulsen (2020) and Postone (1993) made the use of Arendt superfluous.

change of labour itself (e.g. Lafargue, 1883; Gorz, 1980/1997). I will again stress that there may be works I have missed. As Hoffmann and Paulsen (2020) note, the critique of work is growing, and so is thus the rate of publication of critical literature.

The process of writing this thesis has presented some challenges. Selecting literature been a challenge, also beyond the mis-selection of Arendt, and it has been necessary to exclude avenues that could have been interesting to pursue. For example, I believe a fuller engagement with some Marxist approaches not included in this thesis (e.g. Moore (2015) or Burkett (1999/2014)) could have been fruitful. Additionally, a more in-depth discussion of non-labour forms of production both past and present (such as indigenous societies) may have provided interesting and illuminating contrasts both for understanding labour but also regarding what could replace it. I discovered Hoffmann (2017) and Hoffmann and Paulsen (2020) midway through work on this thesis, which overturned some of my original plans and thinking. At the same time, their work has been indispensable as it provides a framework for understanding labour's ecological problems.

Some theoretical developments have also posed particular challenges. Making value analysis and Hoffmann and Paulsen's framework compatible with each other has required several reworkings of my understanding of both them and of Marxist value theory, but has been necessary to make central arguments regarding both RQ1 and RQ3. The most unexpected development, however, was the need I found to dig into what "labour" meant, and to provide my own definition of it. As can be seen from chapter 8.1, this is not because I deviate that much from others' definitions (or simply their use of the term, when they did not really define it). However, because different literatures used somewhat different understandings, and the more I entwined these literatures with each other to understand the role of labour as an ecologically destructive force, the more it was necessary to be exact in what labour meant when I wrote about it. Landing a definition that was compatible with my purposes and coherent (and having to do so at all) took more effort than I had expected.

3 Ecology and Capitalism

In this chapter, I will establish the basic relations between humans and nature and present an understanding of the current ecological crises. In addition, I will give a brief description of capitalism and its growth problem, being the overarching societal cause of ecological crises. This way I intend to establish a background for the ensuing discussion of labour and ecology, and to clarify the understandings it is based on. Chapter 3.1 establishes the basic relations of humans and nature, being both distinct and interrelated. Chapter 3.2. provides a basic understanding of the current ecological crises, as well as their interconnections. Chapter 3.3 briefly introduces capitalism and its dependency on economic growth as the overarching societal driver of the ecological crises and as the societal context for the following discussion.

3.1 Humans and Nature

First of all, there must be an ability to distinguish humanity and nature. In one sense, they are not distinct – us humans and our societies are just as much a part of the planet's biosphere as trees or frogs are. A distinction between the cultural, or human, and the natural is as such a complete artifice. That is, humans do live *within* nature and are part of it, and so are the things humans build and make. Hence, nature's destruction ultimately entails human destruction. However, this does not get us very far. After all, what is of interest is our effect on the *rest of* nature, and how that affects us in turn.

I will follow Malm (2018), in saying that while human societies and nature are made of the same substance, they are functionally different, a "property dualism" (Malm, 2018, p. 55). Human societies have emergent properties distinct from those found in nature, and irreducible to their material components. When humans encounter nature, we then encounter it as something separate from us, something distinct that we interact with, but also something that is prior to us and is a necessary condition for our existence (Malm, 2018; Foster, 2000; Marx, 1867/1990).

That is, nature pre-exists societies, and is an autonomous entity. When humans change something in nature, we affect something that would continue existing, including changing in its own ways, without societal intervention or existence. Certain states in nature are a product of human intervention and would not remain if it were not for continued human intervention. As humans depend on nature, our impacts on nature in one way or another impacts us; the more the human societies try to form nature, the more nature affects them (Malm, 2018).

While this type of distinction ultimately may be problematic from an ontological perspective (that is, in a more refined ontology), it is methodologically and pragmatically useful for my purposes. To understand the crises we are in, and how they happen, it is pertinent to have a separation between the agent – specific forms of human society – and the object of those actions – nature. At the same time, this distinction also includes the concept that while human society is separate as agent, it still exists within its object. Thus, the object again affects the subject, as the subject is subsumed in it.

The base relation between humans and nature – the (two-way) exchange of matter and energy between them necessary to propagate life and a society – can be termed as a social metabolism or a metabolism of humans and nature (Foster, 2000; Fischer-Kowalski & Haberl, 2015; Marx, 1867/1990). This concept has both been used to denote the empirical analysis of material flows (e.g. Fischer-Kowalski & Haberl, 2015) and to act as a concept in social theory (e.g. Foster, 2000; Malm, 2018). I use the concept in the latter sense. Furthermore, when I speak of metabolic relations, I do not mean to imply that there is a *single* way of regulation human-nature relations valid for all societies and all of history. Ostensibly, there are many ways to organise societies and their relations to nature. There must, however, always be *some kind* of regulation, and so every society has *a* social metabolism.

Foster (2000) develops Marx's (1867/1990) conception of social metabolism into metabolic rift theory. The idea is that a rift in the social metabolism opens up when a form of social practice becomes disruptive of the earth's metabolism. That is, the problem is not change as such, but a change in social metabolic practice that disrupts the normal (Holocene-like) operation of nature's processes (Malm, 2018).

What drives today's rifts in the social metabolism of humanity as a whole is growth, and its driver, capitalism (see e.g. Pirgmaier & Steinberger, 2019; Malm, 2018; Kallis, 2019). This is an issue I will return to in 2.3 below. Labour needs to be investigated as both a part of this specific social system, and as a part of social metabolic relations.

⁵ Stoner and Melathopoulos (2018) criticise Foster (2000) for treating the metabolism of humans and nature as an "original identity" – a specific transhistorical way of regulation.

⁶ That "the metabolic rift" is a theory developed based on parts of Marx's writings, and not just extracted out of them wholesale, is discussed in Malm (2017).

⁷ The distinction here can be seen as similar to the concept of thresholds in resilience theory (see e.g. Vatn, 2015, p.24-5), wherein a system can withstand changes up to a point, but crossing a threshold sends it into a new state (a difference is that metabolic rift theory is put in more qualitative terms, and arguably focuses more on the social side of anthropogenic perturbations). On thresholds see also chapter 3.2. below.

3.2 Planetary Boundaries and Ecological Crises

The planetary boundaries model provides a framework for understanding the crises, their risks and their interconnections. I will not describe the numeric specifics of the crises, and only provide a brief description of climate change and biosphere integrity – my purpose is only to provide a generic understanding. Primarily, this chapter describes overarching technical aspects of the crises, while the next chapter considers the overarching societal ones.

The Planetary Boundaries framework was first presented in Rockström et al. (2009) and updated in Steffen, Richardson, et al. (2015). It posits nine interdependent boundaries of the Earth System which are to define a "safe operating space" for humanity (Steffen, Richardson, et al., 2015). Each boundary has a zone defined as safe (green), a zone of uncertainty (yellow) and a zone beyond where boundaries have been transgressed (red), each zone having increased risk of causing a shift in the Earth System to a new state. The boundary itself lies at the border of the green and yellow zones (e.g. 350 ppm CO₂ for climate change) (Steffen, Richardson, et al., 2015).

The boundaries as such set limits of acceptable risk, which involves normative evaluation as a component (Rockström et al., 2009; Steffen, Richardson, et al., 2015; Biermann & Kim, 2020). This conceptualisation has been heavily criticised for leaving out equity and justice issues, and for turning global environmental policy into a form of technocratic rule (Biermann & Kim, 2020). It is indeed true that the boundaries' control variable levels are set only by the authors of the papers, and that e.g. civil society has not been involved. However, while this raises questions about where and how the exact values of the boundaries' variables should be placed, I do not believe this invalidates the framework itself as a heuristic and as a tool for understanding – in my case the numbers also matter less since the framework itself is more of interest than set numerical values. The underlying understanding of the crises and their interconnections can still be used, even if the exact numbers are up for debate.⁸

The boundaries themselves represent safe levels (an acceptable amount of risk) of perturbations of the given boundary that can happen without sending it into a different state - e.g., for climate change, the amount of CO_2 that can be released without causing a qualitative shift in the earth system. The boundary values are set at levels where there is enough time for society to react before crossing into a point of no return (Rockström et al., 2009; Steffen, Richardson, et al., 2015). Thus, the

just operating space for humanity" (Raworth, 2017, p. 44)

⁸ However, this does probably mean that its use in concrete policy processes might need amendment, or that some entirely different framework should be used. This is already done by e.g. Kate Raworth (2017, who Bierman and Kim (2020) also briefly discuss), who bases her "doughnut" on both the planetary boundaries as an ecological ceiling, and adds a "social foundation" with a set of indicators for wellbeing, giving a "safe and

boundaries are not the same as thresholds or tipping points, and nor do all of them have those (Steffen, Richardson, et al., 2015).

The boundaries are climate change, biosphere integrity, land-system change, ocean acidification, freshwater use, biogeochemical flows, ozone depletion, aerosol loading and novel entities (Steffen, Richardson, et al., 2015)⁹. Of these, biosphere integrity and climate change are identified in Steffen, Richardson, et al. (2015) as "core" boundaries, as the other boundaries both operate through and regulate them, and they both are each crucially important for the earth system. Furthermore, the boundaries can be differentiated on whether they have singular thresholds or not.

Thresholds are when a boundary reaches a point where non-linear change starts and the boundary in question reaches a qualitatively new state (Steffen, Richardson, et al., 2015). The most well-known global examples are probably the fear of climate change tipping points, where going past a threshold triggers feedback loops, which in turn increase the risk of other feedback loops happening (Lenton & Williams, 2013). The other core boundary, biosphere integrity, probably does not have a threshold. Rather, the global shift happens through a cascade of non-linear changes at lower levels, which cumulatively cause a global-level shift (Lenton & Williams, 2013). While not all the boundaries have thresholds, Steffen, Richardson, et al. (2015) argue that their weakening past some point would affect the earth system's capacity to retain its current qualitative state.

Climate change and biosphere integrity are especially interconnected (Steffen, Richardson, et al., 2015). I will emphasise these and their interconnections, due to their own significance as well as their implications for all other boundaries. I will focus on drivers of the crises and how the crises affect each other. The thesis does not go into detail about the technical specificities of impacts of labour, instead focusing on labour as a social structure and driver. It is important, however, to keep in mind that no amount of social reform will solve the crises without including technical and physical changes. The drivers of environmental crises discussed in this chapter (3.2) are physical processes, which themselves are driven by social ones, among which is labour.

Anthropogenic climate change is driven primarily by greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, of which CO_2 is the main gas (IPCC, 2014b). The main drivers of emissions are energy (a large part of which is driven by industry and buildings), industry, agriculture, forestry and other land use (IPCC, 2014a). As a core boundary, climate change is interconnected with all the others, including the other core boundary, biosphere integrity. The warming itself, and in addition other effects such as higher sea levels and

¹⁰ The impacts om humans are well described elsewhere, e.g. by the IPCC (2014a, 2018) and IPBES (2019) panels.

⁹ The original version (Rockström et al, 2009) had ten boundaries, where geochemical flows were split in nitrogen and phosphorus cycles.

more extreme weather, will reduce the geographic ranges for a number of species, as well as causing extinctions due to species not being able to adapt to rapid ecosystem changes. Ecosystems themselves are at risk of loss and changes (IPCC, 2014a, 2018; IPBES, 2019).

Biosphere integrity is measured in biodiversity loss in various ways (Steffen, Richardson, et al., 2015). IPBES (2019) categorises the direct drivers of biodiversity and ecosystem loss as (from largest to least impact) Land use, direct exploitation, climate change, pollution and invasive species. Direct exploitation has the largest impact on marine systems through fishing, and also refers to renewable and non-renewable resource extraction in general. Sea use includes fishing grounds, aquaculture, bottom trawling and ocean mining (which includes offshore petroleum extraction).

Rockström et al. (2009) stress that the state of the biosphere is important for the general functioning of the earth system, and that its degradation would mean that the earth system as a whole is more vulnerable to perturbations from the other boundaries – in a sense this boundary works as a regulator. The integrity of both marine and terrestrial ecosystems is also important in halting climate change, as both function as carbon sinks, decreasing the impact of GHG emissions (IPBES, 2019).

3.3 Capitalism and Growth

The specific form of organising production and distribution that shapes modern society's metabolic relation with nature is capitalism. In general terms capitalism can be characterised by a few elements: Private property is the predominant form of ownership over economic resources, either by individuals or private companies. Those who do not own and control the means of production depend on selling their capacity to work in order to gain income – creating the labour market. Goods and services are predominantly distributed through a system of generalised commodity production – they are exchanged as commodities in the marketplace. The state has a distinctive role, regulating private property rights, the specific rules for markets, and so on. Furthermore, capitalism has an expansionary tendency – the point of the economy is profit, which requires continued economic growth (Stillwell, 2012; Pirgmaier & Steinberger, 2019).

A core part of capitalism is the separation of the labourers from the means of production, such as land or machinery, which creates a class dependent on selling its labour-power in order to afford to live (Stilwell, 2012; Komlosy, 2014/2018). While wages existed in previous social formations, it is with the development of capitalism that it emerged as the dominant form of structuring productive activities (Komlosy, 2014/2018). This is what creates the capitalist class relation between those who

own the means of production, capitalists, and those who have to work for a living, workers (Stilwell, 2012).

A metabolic relation is needed for survival. The probably most discussed problem with capitalism is its need for growth, a need which ensures it both degrades the environment both through extracting its inputs and through using nature as a dump for its waste – that is, metabolic rifts. In ecological economic terms, it is an open system being part of the social sphere within the biosphere (Martínez-Alier & Muradian, 2015).

The mainstream opinion is that the ecological crises can be resolved without compromising on growth, through so-called green growth. This is to be done through absolute decoupling of the carbon emissions or material footprint of societies and economic growth, measured in GDP. Empirically speaking, this is a highly unlikely possibility. As Hickel and Kallis (2019) show, neither historical trends nor modelling show any sufficient decoupling of CO₂ emissions and GDP growth, nor any absolute decoupling at all between material footprint and GDP growth.

As Hickel and Kallis (2019) show, the possibility of green growth breaks down the moment thermodynamics or actual tendencies of the economy are brought in. Theoretical assumptions of infinite green growth through technological change, substitution and changes in what types of goods are consumed cannot keep up when the capitalist economy is treated as a real system operating in social and physical reality. Ward et al. (2016) use a simple model to show that even if decoupling were possible, it would only be temporary. Since any product requires a minimum of energy and materials, there is a physical limit for how efficient any commodity can be in terms of matter or energy use. Thus, at some point, continued economic growth would necessarily entail increased materials and energy use, as further efficiency gains would be physically impossible.

Following Pirgmaier and Steinberger (2019), I believe that growth, green or not, should be treated as an *emergent* phenomenon of capitalism – a result of the system's underlying drivers. Part of the ensuing discussion is as such what role labour plays in this system of drivers, and how it does it. That capitalism is unsustainable does not automatically imply that everything contained within it is unsustainable as well. As such, the question of the unsustainability of labour must be investigated on its own.

¹¹ Sufficiency here means reducing CO₂ emissions fast enough so that global warming does not increase more than 1.5°C or 2°C above pre-industrial temperatures (Hickel & Kallis, 2019).

¹² Hickel and Kallis (2019) also state that trying to determine growth through value creation also does not suffice, as no theory of value (i.e. utility, energy, labour theories of value) exists that allows for empirical measurement of its magnitude.

¹³ They use a modified version of the I=PAT (Impact, Population, Affluence, Technology) model.

Part II

In this part, I will discuss some approaches to understanding and critiquing labour, with the aims of constructing an understanding and definition of labour and understanding its relation to ecological destruction. With chapter 4, I begin with introducing the research of Hoffmann and Paulsen (2020; Hoffmann, 2017), who provide the one extant contribution to an ecological critique of labour; as will be seen, they consequently form one of the most central sources in this thesis. Then, in chapter 5, I proceed with a Marxist understanding of labour and value, using primarily Postone's (1993) reconstruction of Marx. In Chapter 6 I discuss productive activities that are outside the sphere of wage labour, using feminist approaches. Chapter 7 discusses the "work ethic".

With chapter 8, I provide my own definition of labour, as well as the relation of it to metabolic relations. Before this chapter, labour is not properly defined, but should minimally be understood as waged purposive¹⁴ renumerated activity under capitalism (Hoffmann & Paulsen, 2020), while at the same time the use of the word among these different approaches varies. However, throughout all chapters I will use "work" and "labour" synonymously, which generally is the practice of others as well. I will use the term "productive activities" for human production in a transhistorical sense, as well as for current activity that falls outside the definition of labour, but is still not leisure (and what one might in everyday language call "work"). Further on I chapter 10, I develop the understanding of labour's ecological impacts, beginning with the role of value, followed by my reappraisal of Hoffmann and Paulsen's factors of labour's impact.

_

¹⁴ As opposed to unpurposive – e.g. breathing.

¹⁵ Frayne (2015) and Weeks (2011) both explicitly state adherence to this practice.

4 Hoffmann and Paulsen

This chapter provides a brief overview of Hoffmann and Paulsen's (2020) research, as well as some initial comments. Their work in this vein encompasses both their 2020 article, as well as Hoffmann (2017), which the former publication is based on. ¹⁶ I provide a more thorough discussion and critique in chapter 8.4 below, as well as in chapter 12 in part III. Through their research, they have provided a descriptive framework that categorises labours ecological problems, which I will in turn will base my later analysis on – the developments I make would not have been possible without their initial thorough appraisal of work's ecological problems.

According to Hoffmann and Paulsen, work is "is defined in its modern meaning as an abstract economic activity based on abstract time, mainly commodified as gainful employment within the structures and institutions of modern, industrial society." (Hoffmann & Paulsen, 2020, p. 351)¹⁷. That is, "Work" is expressly *waged* work, the currently dominant form of organising productive activities (see chapter 8.1 for further discussion of the definition of work).

4.1 Hoffmann and Paulsen's Ecological Critique of Work

Hoffmann and Paulsen (2020) present a qualitative framework of four factors of the ecological impact of work – scale, time, income and work-induced consumption, mobility and infrastructure.

The *time factor* consists of two main aspects. The first, *time-scarcity*, concerns itself with the effect working-time has on households – less time available outside work means time-saving forms of consumption (Hoffmann & Paulsen, 2020; see also the discussion of work time reduction in chapter 10 below). The second aspect regards the basic notion of time and work under capitalism. The "abstract work" (Hoffmann & Paulsen, 2020, p. 345) of capitalism presumes abstract time – in their definition, linear, mechanical, clock-based time. Ecologically, this is at odds with the diverse "temporalities of the biosphere" (Hoffmann, 2017, p. 24). Abstraction towards work as quantity allows for a pressure towards acceleration of work time and consequently production. Detached from ecological temporalities, the processes of ecosystems cannot cope with the accelerated rates of pollution produced, thus causing damage that is either irreversible or will heal at time-scales too long to be relevant to current human societies (Hoffmann & Paulsen, 2020; Hoffman, 2017).

_

¹⁶ The content in each is largely overlapping. I will primarily refer to the 2020 paper.

 $^{^{17}}$ One thing to be noted already here is that neither Hoffmann (2017) nor Hoffmann and Paulsen (2020) define what "abstract work" actually is.

The *scale factor* is concerned with how the more one works, the more input one needs, and the more output one gets – that is, more work means more ecological impacts through the increased use of materials and energy (Hoffmann & Paulsen, 2020). As such, this is the qualitative statement of the total sum of work having the *wrong* scale compared to the biosphere's capabilities for sustaining itself – a quantitative problem for the metabolism of humans and nature. Note too that this is a problem of the quantity of the social phenomena of *waged work*, not the quantity of any specific type of physical effort.¹⁸

In addition to this core aspect of the factor, Hoffmann and Paulsen (2020) also point to conditions of work as part of the "Industrial-capitalist" (Hoffmann, 2017, p. 22) system. Among these conditions is the externalisation of costs – among other things the biosphere is outside the scope of normal cost calculations. Another condition is the combination of fossil fuel dominance and industrial technology resulting in higher labour productivity, which in turn results in growth.¹⁹ Finally, turning into waste is the designed end-state of most commodities produced by contemporary work, and at times waste is their end-state even before they reach the market (Hoffmann & Paulsen, 2020; Hoffmann, 2017).

The *income factor* is the relation of income and the resulting environmental degradation entailed by it. Generally, more hours of work means more income, which means more environmental harmful consumption. Structurally, this is a never-ending cycle having to work to gain money to spend on living, which gets used up, necessitating more work. This cycle also engenders a style of life that gives the need for a rising income to consume even more (Hoffmann & Paulsen, 2020).

The final factor is *work-induced mobility, infrastructure and consumption*. These three are things not caused by work per se, but the structures around it. Mobility is about commuting and business travel. Infrastructure is things required for work to happen, such as, factories, office buildings, certain roads and tracks, cafeterias, etc. Consumption is purchases that are needed because of work, such as babysitting or work clothes. The category concerns instances of these that only exists because work has to be done (Hoffmann & Paulsen, 2020).

4.2 Initial Comments on Hoffmann and Paulsen's Factors

While I will return to Hoffmann and Paulsen, I will here provide some initial comments on the framework, which form the basis for further discussion, beginning with the time factor. The function

¹⁸ As Hoffmann and Paulsen (2020) note, there are differences between types of work, but even service work has direct and indirect impacts, as well as often forming part of the infrastructure for more directly harmful work. See also Kallis (2017).

¹⁹ While it is true that these are enablers of growth, this does not explain *why* growth happens or is necessary.

time has, regarding defining a set number of hours "at work", irrespective of the actual level of production, is certainly central. It is both central in the terms of its opposition to ecological temporalities, and in its contrast to task-based organisations of production. In the latter case, Hoffmann and Paulsen (2020) draw on Thompson (1967)²⁰. While it is not as obvious as an ecological issue, the move away from task-based to a time-based organisation of productive activity does engender a change in how productive activity is discussed. Instead of discussing a concrete action or a task, the discussion primarily becomes one of hours worked. Furthermore, one can connect this focus on work hours to the problem of ecological temporalities — an organisation around *task* more easily lends itself to adjusting the concrete productive process to the concrete relevant ecological temporal conditions, as there is not a mechanism inherent to the organisation of production competing with that social goal.

Concerning the scale factor, the relation between the amount of work hours and ecological impact that Hoffmann and Paulsen (2020) posit is not so clear. As I will discuss in chapter 10, the historical trend is both a reduction in working hours and an increase in ecological destruction. The factors Hoffmann and Paulsen note, technological development and the availability of fossil fuels, which enable a much higher labour productivity, offers conditions that enable this increase in production and reduction in hours, but we are left with no reason for *why* this happens. Hoffmann (2017) and Hoffmann and Paulsen (2020) refer to no social force that explains *why* these technological conditions of increased productivity continuously give the result of increased production – why growth happens.

With the income factor Hoffmann and Paulsen (2020) give a basic relation – the wages generated from work are spent, and the more you work, the more income you have, the more you spend. As they argue, this is true even among the more well-off – the work-spend cycle happens because one runs out of money, and so one inevitably goes back to work. However, is this consumption a factor of work? Would this not be the case too with money for nothing, for example in the case of a universal basic income? The production of demand that e.g. advertisement ensures (as Hoffman and Paulsen (2020) note) certainly has a role to play, but this is again not a factor of work as such. This is exasperated by the question of why people get the need to consume more. Again, we can point to advertising, as well as the availability of cheap commodities (Hoffmann, 2017), but – is this consumption an ecological impact produced *by* work? And if so, is it because of *income*, or is it because of production, or because people will spend their money no matter what? While income

-

²⁰ Thompson's article is a discussion of historical variations of organisation of productive activity, using the categories time- and task-based work.

generated by work gives the means to consume, this is not enough to say that the subsequent consumption in general is caused by work itself.

Turning lastly to work-induced mobility, infrastructure and consumption, the structural or indirect components could be seen as indirect consequences of the work society – and the impacts thereof would not have happened, at least to the present scale, without this organisation of work. As with the income factor, however, the work-induced ones seem to not give a clear delineation between what is caused by work and what is caused by other societal processes.

In sum, Hoffmann's framework provides insight into component part of work's impact on the environment. However, there seem to be some limitations. While Hoffmann provides a descriptive categorisation of work's ecological impacts, she does not seem to provide a reason why the conditions that exist result in overproduction and expansion – that is, there is a lack of a *social driver*, or a generative mechanism. Second, at times the difference between work as the reason for impact, and some other (but related) phenomenon, such as demand creation, as the source, is somewhat unclear.

5. A Marxist Understanding of Labour

In this chapter, I primarily will not deal with Marx's works directly. Rather, I will concern myself with a specific approach, that of Postone (1993). There are two main reasons for this choice: First, there are a myriad of interpretations of Marx, many of which contradict each other and pull very different things from Marx's writings. Expense things narrow to one specific interpretation enables focus and clarity. Second, Postone's reading and reconstruction of Marx is interesting in particular, as it has precisely labour as its prime object. As such, I am not giving a literature review of interpretations of Marx, nor claiming to follow "the" correct one, but instead using a way of reading Marx that is enlightening in the context of the aims of this thesis.

5.1 Labour and its Dual Character

According to Postone, in his analysis of capitalism, Marx comes to treating labour as a historically specific type of human productive activity that is historically specific to capitalism. Commodity-producing labour becomes the dominant form of productive activity, and the great majority need to be employed at a workplace in order to live. When discussing labour in this chapter, I am primarily speaking of *commodity-producing* labour; a distinction between the two terms will be discussed in chapter 8.

Labour has a *dual character*. Its historical specificity concerns both the social logic of how labour is organised under capitalism, as well as concrete matters of how production done as labour is shaped. Labour done for commodity production under capitalism can thus be seen as having two properties – it is simultaneously concrete labour and abstract labour (Postone, 1993).

Concrete labour is the "intentional activity that transforms material in a determinate fashion" (Postone, 1993, p. 150) – that is the specific actions taken to produce certain end results, which in the capitalist mode take the form of commodities. Postone (1993, p. 153) notes that the category, while including transhistorically necessary metabolic activities, is itself historically constituted; grouping various different activities into a single category – labour – is not something that is true across time and cultures, but something specific to capitalism (see also Komlosy, 2014/2018).²³

²¹ See Elbe (2013), Chambers (2018) as well as the extensive commentary in Postone (1993) on other Marxisms and interpretations of Marx.

²² There are various literatures utilising ecological readings of Marx, such as Burkett (1999/2014) or Foster (2000). However, these interpretations do not in my view focus as closely on labour as much as Postone does, nor do they give it anything like the level of critical scrutiny that Postone achieves.

²³ Indeed, some cultures do not have a general word like labour or work (Komlosy, 2014/2018)

Abstract labour, on the other hand, is the social function of labour in capitalism. That is, according to Postone, Marx's term should not be understood merely as "concrete labor in general" (1993, p. 150), an understanding which would not really say much. Whereas individual concrete labours taken together form a heterogenous lump, the basis of abstract labour is generalisation away from specificities to a general, homogenous category. This homogeneity is not about some specific physical property of labour, ²⁴ such as the expenditure of energy, ²⁵ but is a socially constructed equalisation of different concrete labours (Chambers, 2018, p.138). Individual abstract labours taken together are not various different instances, but a homogenous lump (Postone, 1993). The social function of this homogenisation is to make commodities equivalent in exchange – see chapter 5.4 below.

5.2 Labour, Metabolism, Nature

I have noted that for Postone, concrete labour is a category itself constituted under capitalism, and is as such historically specific. Consequently, the metabolism of humans and nature and concrete labour are *not* identical categories (Postone, 1993). As noted in chapter 3.1 above, while some form of metabolic relation with nature is transhistorically necessary for humans, the social form this relation takes varies across time and space. Thus, while capitalist concrete labour *is* metabolic, in that it transforms matter as a part of purposive activity, it should not be treated as identical with metabolism as something transhistorically necessary.

A consequence of the dual character of labour is that labour encompasses both relations between humans and nature, as concrete labour, as well as relations between humans and humans, as abstract labour. According to Postone, "[t]his conflation shapes both the form of production and the form of social relations in capitalism, and it relates them intrinsically." (1993, p. 220). In capitalism, the metabolic relation to nature is brought into the same category (labour) as, and shaped by, relations among people. Specifically, the mechanisms of capitalism – abstract time (see below), the endless need for production and economic growth – take precedence over adhering to ecological temporalities, over not exhausting the earth, and so on.

²⁵ And the value theory that ensues (see below) is, after all, not an energy theory of value.

 $^{^{24}}$ Marx is at times unclear on this point. See Heinrich (2004/2012) or Postone (1993)

5.3 Abstract Labour and Abstract Time

A central part of Marx's analysis is the concept of socially necessary labour time (SNLT), which he defines as "(...) the labour time required to produce any use-value under the conditions of production normal for a given society and with the average degree of skill and intensity of labour prevalent in that society." (Marx, 1867/1990, p. 129). According to Postone (1993), SNLT is in turn based on abstract time.

Postone contrasts abstract time with concrete time. None of these are time as in a natural property of the world *itself*, but as a social category and unit – the social function of time. *Concrete time* is time as a dependent variable. Instead of time units being invariable, units of time change with events, such as the objective length of an hour varying by the season, or the length of a month varying with lunar cycles.²⁷ Concrete time is then time measured *by* events, and it is a social framework made *of* events.

In contrast, *abstract time* is a social framework *for* measuring events. Abstract time is time as an independent variable – the framework events are measured against. With concrete time, the length of unit of time varies, but with abstract time each unit of time is invariant, every hour, minute, second is the same as another. However, abstract time is *not* exactly the same thing as mechanical clocks (which ostensibly have invariant time units) – while its basis is invariant units, abstract time is a social function, not technology per se. As Postone discusses, clock technologies giving invariant time units were invented several times without invariant time becoming a socially *normative* force.²⁸ For labour, however, abstract time is a norm-setting framework for activity (Postone, 1993).

For the individual worker, labour needs to be done according to a set time-norm, e.g. X number of Y tasks in Z hours. As per Marx above, this norm is not set by any individual worker, but is constituted socially – based on what the societal normal time to make that product is, hence the normal labour time *necessitated* by a task is set *socially*, hence the category "socially necessary labour time."

It is in this sense that abstract time relates to abstract labour. An abstract labour hour is not determined by any individual worker's labour but is normatively determined by the socially generalised standard of productivity. The dominance of this standard is altogether different from

²⁷ Postone (1993) gives historical examples of these types of time units. The length of an hour varying by the season can for example mean that the number of hours in a day remains constant, but since the actual time between sunrise and sunset varies across a year, the length of each hour will vary according to the season.

²⁶ Postone (1993, p. 190) quotes this passage as well, but changes the translation slightly.

²⁸ That is, while technology may exist to e.g. objectively measure the length of lunar cycles or other astronomical phenomena, this does not mean that this type of time becomes socially dominant or relevant. Postone (1993, p. 200-216) discusses historical instances of the invention of objective time measurement being developed without achieving social relevance.

what was and is found in other societies – see e.g., Thompson (1967) who discusses the difference between task- and time-based organisations of production, where the former has been prevalent in non-capitalist societies.²⁹

However, when the standard of SNLT changes, due to changes in productivity, the grounds for that change is found in *concrete* labour. This change in concrete labour is not expressed in abstract time (which is an independent variable for – and not of – concrete activity). Postone solves this apparent paradox by positing *historical time* as a type of concrete time specific to capitalism. Historical time reflects the dynamic of the ongoing transformation of social life – including labour. It is within historical time that the socially abstract labour hour (which in its own term remains unchanged) changes, and it is through historical time that socially general productivity changes are expressed. The resulting dynamics means historical time is also *directional* – increased productivity, in redetermining the new standard abstract labour hour, SNLT, also redetermines a new *norm* for productivity (abstract time being a normative social phenomenon). However, while change happens in historical time, it does not in abstract time – so abstract time remains as a static frame (Postone, 1993).

Thus, while productivity is increased (in whichever way), and the qualitative standard for SNLT changes, this does not change abstract time, and the abstract labour which it is the norm for – an hour of abstract labour is an hour of abstract labour as long as it meets the norm set by SNLT at that *historical* moment. So, while the rate of commodities produced per time unit increases, this does not as such matter for abstract time, nor for abstract labour.

Following this logic of capitalist labour up to this point, some things can already be asserted: The twofold nature, or social function, of labour means that labour functions both as a relation between humans and nature, and as a relation between humans and humans. The former is labour as concrete labour, and the latter is labour as abstract labour. With capitalism it is, however, the abstract property that dominates, and individual labours are ruled not by specific (concrete) questions of transforming matter for specific ends, but are rather bound to the norm of abstract time – to be labour *proper*, an hour of labour must conform to the norm of production set by socially necessary labour time, that is, the societal norm, determined by the socially generalised level of productivity.

 $^{^{29}}$ in task-based situations, productive activity was done when needed and ended when the concrete goal (e.g. a set number of products) was reached. In contrast, the modern working day is predominantly time-determined, where one is required to be at work regardless of whether there is anything to do – see for

In other words, the logic of capitalist labour, if we follow Postone and Marx, means that what matters is producing as much in an hour (or day, etc) as whatever the social norm of productivity is per time unit – conforming to SNLT. This takes precedence over any considerations of ecology (or of whether the resulting level of production is needed), which belongs to the realm of the concrete, of metabolism. The category of abstract time also is at odds with ecology – the frame which steers production is a norm set by productivity, not ecological temporalities.

However, none of this really explains why this problem exists. That is, why does abstract time take such precedence, why does abstract labour take precedence? At this point, there's no compulsion in this system for changes in productivity, in historical time, to mean that a changed average productivity level should entail that the amount of time spent producing should stay the same, or that production can't remain constant (or even decrease), even as productivity increases.³⁰ Explaining this within a Marxist framework necessitates bringing in Marx's value theory and discussing the opposition between what Postone (1993) calls value and material wealth.

5.4 Marx's Theory of Value and Forms of Wealth

In Marx, value is a historically specific social form of wealth. Specifically, it is objectified abstract labour time. Any commodity is both a value and a use value. What determines the value of a commodity, or the magnitude of value, is how much abstract labour (of society's total labour) went into it. As such, value is purely quantitative. Opposite this, the commodity as a use value is qualitative - the usefulness of a thing is a subjective evaluation by the user (Postone, 1993; Heinrich, 2004/2012).

A commodity is both a value and a use value, wherein use value is the utility the product for an individual. Use values are not commensurable, since the utility of something is entirely dependent on an individual's preferences (Marx, 1867/1990; Heinrich, 2004/2012). The function of abstract labour is to make commodities commensurable as products of homogenised human labour time – to make them exchangeable as values (Heinrich, 2004/2012), which is done through the medium of money exchange value. 31 This is why abstract labour time is necessarily a question of norms – to equate

³⁰ In capitalism, competition among firms makes actually decreasing *productivity* (not production) unfeasible

regardless – one would simply be outcompeted by firms keeping up with the standard of productivity in the marketplace (less resources used (including human labour) generally means cheaper goods, after all) – see Heinrich (2004/2012).

³¹ In our daily lives, we exchange commodities according to price expressed in money (exchange value) – which is determined by value. However, price is not necessarily an accurate reflection of value. Prices are set through a variety of factors, and value theory is not a theory of price formation – at least at this abstract level. However, the claim is that the ultimate source of the logic of exchange is value and that this does steer price, but not

things as products of labour, these labours must be equalised, conforming to a standard, in this case being SNLT.

The magnitude of value is temporal, based on the socially standard duration of labour – value is abstract labour time objectified. However, as discussed, abstract time is *normative*; for commodity-producing labour to count as *value-constituting*, it must conform to the *current* SNLT (the everchanging societal standard). Establishing this magnitude can only happen through the process of exchange of the products of labour, commodities. (Marx, 1867/1990; Postone, 1993; Heinrich, 2004/2012).

This also means that how much abstract labour time is in an individual labour is not measurable by the clock – the magnitude of labour time of an individual labour is only established in being brought in relation with other individual labours. Value and abstract labour time are a matter of relating individual labours to the total labour of society, which is what enables different products of labour to be commensurate as commodities (Heinrich, 2004/2012).

Postone (1993) posits two forms of social wealth: value and *material wealth*, the latter being made up of use values. When productivity increases, material wealth increases, but value does not automatically increase. For value, the change in productivity only means a new standard (SNLT) for labour – the concrete labour of a unit of abstract labour time changes, but an hour of abstract labour remains an hour of abstract labour (Postone, 1993). When the workers at the shoe factory produce 80 pairs of shoes in a day instead of 40, the material plenitude of shoes increases, but the value of the workers' labour is constant – as a result, the value contained in each pair of shoes *decreases* (Heinrich, 2004/2012).³²

It is not, in the first instance, questions of material wealth that determine the level of production, of how much labour is done, but value.³³ That is, since profit is made through successful exchange and commodities are exchanged as values, production happens to create and realise value, as opposed to fulfilling specific needs. Since exchange must be successful for value to be realised, commodities do have to fulfil the buyers' needs as use values. However, this is essentially a by-product of the purpose of value creation.

³² This is also true in the case where the socially average time to produce something *increases*, in which case the value of the single commodities also increases (Heinrich, 2004/2012)

alone (Postone, 1993; Heinrich, 2004/2012). For why value – abstract labour time – has to be expressed in exchange as money, see Heinrich (2004/2012).

³³ If, for example, satisfying the material needs of the firm owners was the only goal, then production would only happen until they had enough spending money to get whatever use values they want from the market (Heinrich, 2004/2012, p. 123).

Historically, value as a form of wealth, according to Postone (1993), made sense. If one wanted to increase production in order to increase material wealth, one had to increase the amount of labour hours worked. However, as ever new levels of productivity have developed (through technologies, energy, skills, and so on), value as a form of wealth has become anachronistic. No matter how many commodities are churned out, the value of units of abstract labour time remains the same.

Production accelerates while value remains in place. As productivity improvements are made – as historical time changes – so does the norm for abstract time change.

When an improvement in productivity is made, the firm that makes this improvement is able to realise more value from a workday than its competitors. In effect, the firm is getting more abstract labour "hours" from the same amount of clock hours worked by the workers. When this improvement becomes generalised, this benefit disappears as SNLT is asserted at a new level.

Value as a form of wealth is thus one that can accumulate and *grow*. Up to this point, the theory of value and labour explains *how* growth happens, but not *why* it happens. That is, the form of wealth that grows is established, as well as how it is created. However, why the increase of this wealth actually happens, or needs to happen, is not clear.

In Marxist theory, the aim of production is accumulating and increasing surplus value — which is the value that is left over after the costs of production are paid for, including wages. This process happens with the circuit of value: Money-Commodity-Money, or MCM', where M'>M. This circuit is what capital is — "Self-valorizing value" (Postone, 1993, 269). *Surplus* value is the value that is left over after the costs of production are paid for, including wages.

This necessitates specifying something about workers. Wages are here not payment for labour (though they may appear to be so). Rather, wages are payment for the value of labour-power, the worker's capacity to work in the form of a commodity. The value of labour-power is not how much value the labour from it creates, but the cost of its reproduction. Surplus value comes from the difference between the cost of labour-power's reproduction (as well as the cost of tools, machinery, etc) and how much value the actual labour of the worker constitutes. Hence, the rate of surplus in a firm does not increase with the number of workers, but with how much (surplus) value, abstract labour time, the capitalist gains from the purchased labour-power (Heinrich, 2004/2012). It would then not be possible to profit by employing a thousand workers to produce a thousand shoes when in other firms the same amount is produced by a hundred workers. This would both be expensive, as the value gotten from the labour-power would be less, and it could result in the firm having

-

³⁴ All else being equal. More workers producing less efficiently giving more surplus value is possible if, for example, there is a great discrepancy in the value of labour-power in one place compared to another.

trouble realising the value produced on the market, since the firm has increased the cost of production of a single commodity, which other firms sell at a much lower value.³⁵

Labour constitutes value. The function of gaining value is in turn creating more value. This is not a specific decision made by any firm owner or worker, but a demand set by capital's logic – rather than being something people directly deal with, value takes the shape of an underlying social mechanism. If a firm does not conform to SNLT and does not realise surplus value (needed to conform to ever new levels of productivity, of SNLT), it ultimately gets outcompeted and falls by the wayside. This means that to continue to exist, firms generally have to ensure that they always realise a surplus that at least gives funds to ensure keeping up with SNLT, but really also to have a new circuit of MCM', or rather M'CM'' (where M''>M') (Heinrich, 2004/2012).

This logic means that in capitalism, labour is done for one thing – value, which is objectified abstract labour time. That is, the form of wealth is a *temporal unit* that is purely social (Postone, 1993; Heinrich, 2004/2012), with no regard for nature (or anything else). At the same time, since value is produced through labour and realised through the exchange of commodities, it *does* require resources and energy to propagate itself – it is just that this fact is irrelevant to its logic. Value's end is its own self-expansion as capital, meaning that the production of this form of wealth is a *means* to the *end* of more production – "the goal itself is a means" (Postone, 1993, p. 181). In turn, the value form of wealth (as opposed to material wealth) means that production, labour, cannot consider ecological sustainability *over* the need to produce – the metabolic part of labour is subordinate to the need to increase the specific form of wealth, value.

5.5 Postone, Marx and Hoffmann and Paulsen

Postone's exposition of Marx gives a logic of labour in capitalism, and its centrality in the growth mechanism. However, it only gives the logic at its most abstract level, a limitation Postone also makes clear (see Postone, 1993). Value is not an *overt*, directly observable social category, but rather an underlying logic to capitalist society and how labour is shaped. Similarly, this is true for abstract labour and abstract time. These are aspects of social relations that emerge historically, and in turn become (generative) mechanisms (see chapter 2) perpetuating themselves.

As such, this theory does not explain every aspect of what actually happens in the day-to-day workings of capitalism, such as price formation, or how the social structures posited reproduce

³⁵ Given that commodities are exchanged at their values. In actual price formation, many things beyond influence the price of a commodity (Heinrich, 2004/2012).

themselves as such beyond logic. Crucially, the Marxist approach is a theory of *commodity-producing* and *value-constituting* labour (Heinrich, 2004/2012), and does not scope over a wider definition of labour, like the one Hoffmann and Paulsen (2020) use. I will return to this issue in chapter 8 below.

This Marxist approach also says little about how we *conceptualise* labour – these are socially emergent structures and categories, not mental ones (Postone, 1993; Heinrich, 2004/2012). A final limitation of this type of Marxist analysis is that there is little normative content – if these social phenomena are core problems for labour, the theory still says little about what should replace them, except the very necessity of their abolition. The absence of normative theory is also reflected in the minimal theory of need in Marx – there is nothing guiding the eventual direct (normative) differentiation of use values, as they are only minimally defined and not differentiated from each other (Marx, 1867/1990, p. 125).

That said, a Marxist approach allows one to see the logic of how capitalist labour drives itself – it gives a social reason for *why* this happens, which was a limitation of Hoffmann and Paulsen's (2020) framework. However, improvement upon that absence in Hoffmann and Paulsen does not on the face of it imply a rejection of their framework. Rather, I believe the most logical route is to consider Hoffmann and Paulsen's framework as one operating on a more concrete (or surface) level of the system of capitalist labour, while Marx in Postone's interpretation operates on the most abstract (or deep) level. I will return to considering combinations in chapter 8 below.

6 Unpaid "Labour"

While the Marxist approach discussed above considers labour with a focus on its centrality in constituting the dominant form of wealth in capitalism, I will in this chapter move to discuss the edge-cases of labour – those activities that are not paid, and whether they can be called labour (or work) or not. Defining the borders of labour – what it is *not* – is just as important as investigating its internal workings. I will specifically discuss domestic "work" in relation to waged work, as well as other activities that are important for maintaining capitalist society, but remain unwaged. Most relevant in this context are feminist approaches, which at least in part focus on activity outside the sphere of (paid) labour (Weeks, 2011; Munro, 2019; Barca, 2020).

While the existence of households is not specific to capitalism, how they function and what their function in society is, is shaped by capitalism. What happens at home, in households (and elsewhere) is the perpetuation of life – not in general, but specifically the socially and historically constituted ways of living in capitalist societies (Munro, 2019). This social reproduction not only reproduces workers' bare lives and their capacity to work – their labour-power, but also contributes to reproducing capitalist society as a whole (including the rearing of children – into future workers).

The "unwaged work" in households requires goods that generally must be purchased from capitalist firms as commodities, and commodities (or state services) may also substitute household "work" itself (e.g. hiring a cleaner, getting food delivered). At the same time, one of the necessary tasks of the household is realising commodities into the goods and services needed by the household members (Munro, 2019).

Additionally, some, such as Barca (2020) have argued that there are other activities that "grant the conditions of production" (Barca, 2020, p. 32). That is, they contribute to enabling production to take place. These activities are not limited to domestic activities but include all those outside the sphere of wage labour who reproduce (environmental) conditions that are beneficial to humans and capitalist productive processes – subsistence farmers, gatherers, indigenous communities, and so on (Barca, 2019, 2020). Together these activities have been called "meta-industrial" labour (Barca, 2020, p.32).

One point of contention has been whether these activities should be considered "work", and compensated accordingly, as they make essential contributions to the functioning of the capitalist system. Part of the discussion within Marxist or Marxist-adjacent feminisms has been whether these activities produce value (see Weeks, 2011; Barca, 2020). However, in a strictly Marxist sense, they do not (Weeks, 2011; Heinrich, 2004/2012).

These non-waged activities will not be considered as work in this present thesis. They do not have the same social status and function as capitalist wage-labour does, nor are they subject to the same forms of organisation as wage-labour is. These types of activity are not subject to the same logic as (waged) labour – they do not directly have to conform to a level of productivity to ensure efficiency, profit, growth, and selling products on the market. Ultimately, the logic is to ensure concrete results within the household or with the environment; the demand to confirm to an abstract level of production is not there. The contrast can be seen if one substitutes domestic activity with paid work. The concrete action of care for an elderly family member has a different social context when done by a hired nurse from a private firm than when done by unpaid family members. The waged nurse must conform to goals of efficiency and providing the service promised, ensuring company profits, under penalty of being fired and losing their livelihood. The household member on the other hand, does not concern themselves with any of this, beyond that if they themselves have a job, this can make them subject to time-scarcity. Instead domestic activity is done out of love, obligation, fear or other factors, and not out of fear of being out of a job, or in order to ensure some profit. Within capitalism, the social conditions of domestic and meta-industrial "work" are different than that of waged labour.

At the same time, domestic activity is closely tied to work. As discussed by Munro (2019), "unwaged work" can be substituted with commodities or state provisions. This substitution can be connected to environmental harm – as both Hoffmann (2017) and Kallis et al. (2013) point out, more time at work means that more time saving and often environmentally harmful commodities are procured, ³⁶ ensuring that less time is spent on domestic productive tasks. Simultaneously, the introduction of ever new commodities can also result in increased amounts of domestic "work" – Munro (2019) points to the changed cleanliness standards brought about by the vacuum cleaner resulting in a higher standard for clean floors, meaning that *more* cleaning must be done as an example. As such, domestic activity is affected both by the income and time factors in Hoffmann and Paulsen (2020, see chapter 4.1 above).

³⁶ Frayne (2015) also shows the opposite to be true – several of his subjects reported spending less on things after they stopped working. Both as an effect of having less money, but also due to having more time leading them to not having as much of a desire to go shopping.

7 The Work Ethic

This chapter discusses the work ethic, which is a theoretical expression of the status that labour, by virtue of being labour, has in capitalist society. I will discuss what the work ethic is, how it perpetuates itself and how it treats work as something abstract (and so makes people treat work as something abstract when dealing with this ethic). I will also note its effects on labour and ecology.

While the work ethic will not feature as heavily in the discussions below as matters discussed in the preceding chapters, it is nevertheless an important aspect of labour, but in this thesis takes more of a background role. Nevertheless, it will at several points be made relevant in the discussions below (in chapters 12 and 13).

7.1 Identifying the Work Ethic

One central thing that has changed over time in the conceptualisation of labour, has been the move from the idea of labour as a toilsome burden, to labour as an ideal, an end in itself (Weeks, 2011; Frayne, 2015; Hoffmann, 2017).³⁷ In feudal or other pre-capitalist societies, the amount of time spent in productive activity was not determined by any abstract notion, rather the serf (or equivalent) did as much was needed to subsist – if for some reason less tasks needed to be done, this often resulted in doing less. The serf "worked to live" rather than "liv[ed] to work" (Frayne, 2015, p.24).

With the development of capitalism and industrialisation came a work ethic – what once was toil, became almost life's purpose in the form of work. As Weeks (2011) says, following Weber, in time the religious aspect of this ethic fell by the wayside as society secularised, but the ethic of hard work remained. Later, the work ethic was justified as a way to climb socially, and in more contemporary times, work as a site of self-realisation, as seen in e.g. more contemporary managerial philosophy (Weeks, 2011). While the justifications have changed, the core of the ethic, the exaltation of hard work as an end in itself, ³⁸ remains.

7.2 The Workings of the Work Ethic

One thing to immediately clarify about the work ethic is that, primarily, activities are socially validated as work by the ethic as *waged* activity – what matters within the work ethic is having a job

³⁷ All of these rely heavily on a Weberian exposition of the protestant work ethic. See also Komlosy (2014/2018).

³⁸ One might say that today the end is self-realisation, with work as the means. However, this would obfuscate somewhat that the self-realisation is done *through* work – work is not the mere means to, but the *medium of* this self-realisation. Compare this to work being only the necessary toil so as to live *outside* work.

(Weeks, 2011; Frayne, 2015). As Frayne's research makes clear (Frayne 2015) – this is not just a matter of a paid job being what secures material subsistence, but that having a job is what makes a person a *proper* adult.³⁹ Weeks (2011) notes the societal contrast with domestic work – if it really had the same social status as activity validated as work by the work ethic, then domestic work would have a different place in society.⁴⁰

Central aspects of capitalist society are beneficial for the work ethic's perpetuation. First, there is the fact that to live comfortably, the vast majority must work at some kind of job for a living. Indeed, to become a socially "proper" adult, following the social norms appropriate to that (such as the nuclear suburban family) often requires considerable disposable income, especially if one moves up in the income brackets and must follow the living standards of higher economic strata. Second, the taxable earnings from employment (both wages and business earnings) fund the state's operations (including public welfare services) – thus the state has an interest in perpetuating the work ethic. Third, the work ethic exists as interpersonal pressure; pressure from family, friends and peers towards having a job, and indeed having a *career* - unless one has a reason that is a "good enough" for one to be excused from these standards. One is not only pressured to have a job, but to work full-time (which is the norm) and trying to advance to higher-status jobs (regardless of one's actual desire to so so) (Frayne, 2015). 41

The work ethic is constituted externally to the individual, appearing as a set norm for one's existence within society. It may then be internalised – and by internalisation and acceptance, people can perpetuate it interpersonally – the individual accepts that this is the way of things. But internalisation may also not happen, and can even break down and be rejected, as Frayne (2015) and Graeber (2018) give examples of.⁴²

That which constitutes "work" in the work ethic is the paid job – that is, wage-labour. Only when doing wage-labour is it possible for someone to conform to the work ethic (Hoffmann & Paulsen, 2020). The nature of the job might matter for one's social status, but the condition of having a job

³⁹ Illustrative of this is that people who for whatever reason choose to, or are forced to, *not* have a job feel a need to justify this (even unprompted) – a tendency noted by Frayne (2015) in his qualitative interview research on non-workers.

⁴⁰ Weeks (2011) discusses at length the wages for housework-movement, which precisely tried to put unwaged domestic efforts on the same social level as labour (depending on the group, either to give it its proper value, or to be against both wage labour and the organisation of domestic activity).

⁴¹ Frayne (2015) interviews several people who quit their jobs to work less or not at all because they e.g. realised they intensely disliked the job to the point of leaving them mentally worse off than being less well-off and having a lower-status job or no job at all. Graeber (2018) provides several examples of individuals quitting their jobs due to finding the nature of their jobs unbearable.

⁴² Graeber (2018) does not directly deal with the work ethic, but a worker's rejection of what Graeber calls a "bullshit job" can be seen as a rejection of the work ethic's ideal of any job being good regardless of its content.

itself gives a minimum level of standing as an independent adult (Frayne, 2015; Weeks, 2011). As such, what the job itself consists of does not matter for evaluation within the work ethic. What matters is having gainful work *in the abstract*.

While one might have moral concerns about some jobs (such as working at a weapons factory), within the work ethic the job itself gives a validity disconnected from the content of the job. 43 Conversely, concrete activities consequently attain a different status depending on if they are done as part of a job or not. Tending a garden as an employed gardener is in tune with the work ethic. Doing the exact same tasks for the same amount of time without it being one's job, does not confer the same validation within the work ethic – while it might give social status in some other sense, that happens through some other ethic than the work ethic.

7.4 Abstraction and Ecology

Under this ethic, work, in the pure abstract, is an end in itself – it is self-realisation and the way to achieving it (Weeks, 2011; Frayne, 2015), and keeping employment and productivity are seemingly ends in themselves (Hoffmann & Paulsen, 2020). At the same time, doing work is concretely necessary for the individual to gain an income and means of subsistence, as well as being a means to social validity. And societally, work taking is what sustains the state and economy. All these things too, however, only need work in the abstract, what kind of work that takes places is irrelevant in the first instance.

Subsequently, ecology is logically irrelevant to the work ethic. The abstraction away from the specificity of the labouring activity done, the nature of the job, ensures that ultimately, the state of *having* a job is more important than what that job consists of. Which job or career one then has is also socially significant, but comes after the base state of being employed.

For the individual, it can be good to be able to find one's job fulfilling and meaningful due to its content, but this is secondary in terms of the work ethic – it presupposes that having a job as such is fulfilling, work itself, in the abstract, is self-realisation. That is, working *efficiently* and at *work* (see Hoffmann & Paulsen, 2020). Considerations of ecology are either fully irrelevant, or subordinate within the *work* ethic.

The dominance of this ethic, both at a societal and an individual level, makes it difficult to imagine a different state of affairs (Hoffmann & Paulsen, 2020). Indeed, nothing is worse than "the prospect of

⁴³ It is, after all, more socially acceptable to give a vague answer as to what, exactly, your job is, than to not give

an acceptable excuse for why you do not have a job.

a society of laborers without labor," and the concept of there being other meaningful activities outside labour seems entirely foreign (Arendt, 1958/2018, p. 5). Given that work is environmentally harmful, and that it presents a real opposition to ecological sustainability, the ethic poses a problem in going beyond the current state of affairs for work.

8. Labour

This chapter will discuss labour and ecological destruction, combining the material discussed previously in this part. With chapter 8.1 I will give a more thorough definition of labour than the one that has been operational in the preceding chapters, while also being compatible with the one I provided at the start of part II. This new definition is what will be used for the rest of the thesis. Chapter 8.2 discusses the relation of labour and the metabolism of humans and nature. Chapter 8.3 discusses labour and value, and value as a driver and source of labour's ecological problems. With chapter 8.4, I discuss and give a re-appraisal of Hoffmann and Paulsen's factors of labour's ecological impact. I both show their compatibility with a value theory approach, as well as provide some revisions of the factors themselves. Finally, chapter 8.5 gives an overall conclusion to the chapter.

8.1 Defining Labour

To start off, labour, which I will continue to treat as synonymous with work, must at least denote a specific form of human activity, done under a historically specific social structure. Furthermore, I want to delimit labour to only denoting *waged* activity under capitalism.

First, if labour does not denote a specific type of activity, the term effectively becomes analytically useless. That is, if labour simply means *whatever humans do*, the category encompasses more or less anything. My interest is in investigating a specific subtype of activity. Second, I want labour to be historically and socially specific, more specifically – that is, specific to capitalism. I have already discussed capitalism posing the overall ecological problem (see chapter 3.3), and as discussed there, it is labour as a specific type of human activity within capitalism, that contributes to its ecological destructiveness, that interests me.

I also want to commit to a certain strict use of the term that to me seems to be unusual. I will not name anything outside capitalism, or capitalist relations, labour. This applies both in historical terms and synchronically. For human productive efforts in general I use "productive activity". This means that e.g. talking of a continuous history of varying forms of *work* (e.g. Komlosy, 2014/2018) is not really possible with my definition.

Labour, or work, is human activity done for payment within the social and historical context of capitalist social relations. The payment is for the capacity to do a certain activity (or activities) – the worker's labour-power. The activity is generally temporally determined – that is, the renumerated period of labour at some point ends, and the labourer no longer has to labour.

Commodity-producing and value-constituting labour, in the Marxist understanding, is a subtype within this wider definition of labour. This is where the nature of labour is twofold, as both concrete and abstract labour, and abstract labour and abstract time are relevant categories, as they are needed for value constitution to happen. The relation between this subcategory and the wider category will be discussed in this chapter (8.3 and 8.4).

I will return shortly to discussing the relation between commodity-producing labour and labour in detail in chapter 8.3, but there are two initial reasons for using a wider definition than that of the Marxist analysis. First, Hoffmann and Paulsen's factors, in my view, scope over not only commodity-producing labour, but labour in a wider sense (see chapter 8.4). ⁴⁴ Second, and more specifically, there are aspects that are common to what I call labour and commodity-producing labour as well as not common between labour and "domestic work" or "meta-industrial labour." For example, the specific wage-relation of labour is not present for e.g., household work.

Essentially, this definition is compatible with the perhaps more usual term wage-labour. My reason to not just use that term is to avoid leaving the term labour unexamined or nebulous. Furthermore, wage-labour would have to be opposed to *labour*, which could entail either a transhistorical definition of labour (in which case wage-labour could also mean any renumeration of activity in any time period) or a too-wide definition of labour (labour is whatever humans do).

My use of the word labour (or work) differs from those of the authors discussed above. Hoffmann and Paulsen (2020) have a scope of the word "work" that is probably closest to the one I have. However, unlike them, I differentiate between labour as a wider category and commodity-producing, value-constituting labour in the Marxist sense – a difference that is significant, as will be discussed below.⁴⁵

Regarding Marxist approaches, I differ somewhat from their use – the Marxist analysis of labour is primarily concerned with commodity-producing, value-constituting labour (Postone, 1993; Heinrich, 2004/2012; Chambers, 2018). I deal with labour in a wider sense. This means that I relegate the

⁴⁴ For example, a schoolteacher may find the job entirely unchanged if the employment changes from public schooling (no commodity produced) to private schooling (education turned into a commodity). What the teacher does may now be a commodity, but the concrete activity and working conditions of the teacher do not in principle change.

⁴⁵ Hoffmann and Paulsen (2020) define work as "an abstract economic activity based on abstract time, mainly commodified as gainful employment within the structures and institutions of modern, industrial society." (p. 351). This in concordance with my definition, since it specifies that people sell their *capacity* to work (gainful employment), as well as noting its temporal nature. However, labour is not in my definition based on *abstract time* – which is a question of value-constitution (and not all labour is constitutive of value). The most major difference, however, is that I differentiate clearly between labour in general and commodity-producing labour specifically.

value-related analysis to only labour that can constitute value, that is, labour that produces commodities. At the same time, I give the word "labour" a more specific definition, meaning that also labour outside value production is specific to capitalism – this is a narrower use of the word than what too me seems to be the case in Marxist works (e.g. Postone, 1993), where labour can seem to include non-capitalist and non-renumerated productive activities.

This also means that I differ from feminist approaches where labour explicitly includes unwaged productive activities (Weeks, 2011; Munro, 2019; Barca, 2020) to varying degrees. In contrast, I relegate these activities to stand outside labour, as their execution is not a result of a sale of labour-power. This is because I am interested in a category of activity in capitalism that has certain common features, which is not the case for these types of (re)productive activities.⁴⁶

8.2 Labour and Metabolism

As briefly discussed in chapter 5.2, labour is not the same as the metabolic interaction of humans with nature. The latter is a transhistorical necessity, while the former is a specific social category. Thus, I am following Postone (1993), saying that it is rather that labour gives metabolic interactions a specific form. As Stoner and Melathopoulos (2018) discuss, this is different from Foster's (2000) definition, where the metabolism *is* labour, which is then disturbed by capitalism – entailing a transhistorical understanding of labour, which essentially is the form of regulating the social metabolism. An idea of a rift in metabolic relations between humans and nature (see chapter 3.1) must then be understood as *caused by* labour, and not as something that *happens to* labour.

Metabolic activity is thus not only confined to labour. This is only natural, as anything humans do is fundamentally dependent on and happens within nature. Different types of activities and different ways of doing them are then different ways of regulating the exchange of matter and energy with nature. It is in this context that even concrete labour must be understood as a historically specific category – while the disparate concrete activities are not equalised in exchange as concrete labours (but rather as abstract labour), they are concrete *labours*. Instead of being in other social categories, they are categorised as labour (Postone, 1993).⁴⁷ This entails that an activity is not categorised

⁻

⁴⁶ I also want to emphasise – the point is not to hide away the importance these activities have for reproducing labour-power and capitalist society (see Weeks, 2011; Munro, 2019; Barca, 2020) or their role in maintaining natural and social systems outside capitalism which are at the same time essential for its operation (Barca, 2020). Nor do I deny that they are shaped by capitalism. However, their relations to the system are different than for labour.

⁴⁷ In a strict Marxist sense, only commodity-producing labour has the dual character of abstract and concrete (see Heinrich, 2004/2012). At the same time, activities done as labour outside commodity production are too

according to whether or how it regulates the metabolism, but rather according to a *purely social* criterion – is it labour or not?⁴⁸ By being categorised as labour, activities regulating the metabolism are limited to a certain social form, which also effects the methods of those activities, the ways they are done. There is however more that results from being subsumed under labour, as I will turn to next.

8.3 Labour and Value

My labour definition, as noted, is wider than the focus in Marxist theory, which is on commodity-producing, value-constituting labour. In my definition, commodity-producing labour becomes a subtype of labour. As discussed in chapter 5, it is labour as abstract labour time that constitutes value and its magnitude. Value is a purely social thing and is thus by its definition *a-ecological* – matters of nature are external to its logic.

Since value, the social form of wealth, is the goal of production, the regulation of commodity-producing labour is also a-ecological.⁴⁹ Value is constituted by *abstract* labour, so it is this character of commodity-producing labour that guides the development of production. As discussed, SNLT is changed through developments in labour's concrete character. But in the move from concrete matters to abstract labour time, the concrete conditions themselves are abstracted away from – they only matter insofar as they define SNLT, which sets the benchmark for how much labour becomes socially validated as abstract labour through exchange.

However, this also means that value is objectively dependent on ecological factors, even as value's own logic ignores them. Like any human activity value's constitution is dependent on matter and energy from nature. Value needs to be constituted through the *products* of labour in their social function as commodities, and while commodities are exchanged as values, one only buys something because it has *use value*. As use values, concrete commodities and their concrete production processes (labour as concrete labour) *do* require resources and energy to come into being.

shaped by virtue of being categorised under and dealt with as *labours* – and so also the metabolic processes of labour outside commodity production are shaped by virtue of being labour. See also chapter 8.3.

⁴⁸ Contrast Arendt's (1958/2018) division of human activity into labour, work and action. In her writing, labour is activity that needs to be continuously repeated, while work is what creates lasting products. Both are of course metabolic (even things we intend to be permanent erode), but while her emphasis is on the social aspect of this division, this categorisation also gives different forms of metabolism – constant repetition of exchange (labour) as opposed to an exchange that does not repeat until the product must be replaced after an (in principle) *indeterminate* amount of time (work).

⁴⁹ At least when speaking of the mechanisms at play within value's logic. Beyond this, ecology is relevant for regulating production, since states do pass environmental laws, etc.

Thus, commodity-producing labour, being subject to the compulsions of value's logic (including its expansion as capital, see chapter 5.4), *drives* ecological destruction. That logic also ensures that the same labour also abstracts away from ecological factors, which means there is nothing within the logic of value stopping the drive. Ecological destruction happens but is entirely outside value's logic. The drive is not a drive *for* destruction, but one that *causes* it.

However, all this *only* applies to commodity-producing labour. This is the only subtype of labour that is both concrete and abstract (Heinrich, 2004/2012). If labour does not produce commodities, there is no need to conform to SNLT, to try being validated in exchange as abstract labour time.

As such, commodity-producing labour forms a kind of core within labour. It is what constitutes value, social wealth, and it is from the dynamic it is part of that the driver of labour's destructive tendencies originate. The surplus value it generates is also what funds other labour⁵⁰ – when workers in other types of labour sell their labour-power, they still have to receive the value of that labour-power as their wages.

This relation of the rest of labour to value and commodity-producing labour gives certain pressures. Since non-value-constituting labours are funded through appropriating from the value surplus, this both gives a pressure to make these as efficient as possible, so as to minimise that appropriation. On the other end, at least in the case of state provision of services, people would naturally want the state to provide as many services, use values, as possible with the amount value it has available. This in turn means that labour that does not have the goal of value creation can be subject to similar pressures for efficiency and the same type of managerial practices (see Weeks, 2011; Frayne, 2015) found in sectors producing value.

While commodity production is only a subtype of labour, the societal centrality of this type of labour means that it also shapes labour in general, as well as other types of activity (see Munro, 2019; Barca, 2020). The effects of the driving force at the centre cause other processes giving environmental effects that scope over labour in its entirety, and this is where Hoffmann and Paulsen's (2020) framework enters.

46

⁵⁰ The probably most prominent example is state welfare programs. The funding from these comes from taking from the total value produced by society, reducing the value surplus available to firm owners (through wealth and income taxes, etc.) (Heinrich, 2004/2012, p. 207-208). This also means that the state is more or less as dependent on labour as workers are on having a job (Hoffmann & Paulsen, 2020).

8.4 The Ecological Impacts of Labour: Hoffmann and Paulsen's Framework So far, I have established the driver of labour's ecological destructive tendencies – production for value. This is a mode of production which needs ever higher levels of materials and energy throughput but at the same time, in its logic, abstracts away from that throughput. However, this insight alone does not give the mechanisms of how labour impacts the environment. This is what Hoffmann and Paulsen (2020) provide. While I believe they provide a strong groundwork for understanding labour's problems, I have also noted what I believe are the potential weaknesses in their framework. This chapter thus serves two purposes: 1) connect value as labour's driving force of ecological destruction to Hoffmann and Paulsen's categories of labour's specific ecological impacts and 2) re-assess the categories themselves.

The factors scope over labour in its entirety – both commodity-producing labour and labour that does not produce commodities. This means that the factors are not the same as any properties of commodity-producing labour that are specific to it, though there may be similarities. At the same time, commodity-producing labour as the constituent of value holds a certain centrality, as it is directly connected to the underlying driver of labour's ecological impacts. As such, the factors may seem to fit more with commodity-producing labour in terms of their logic, as well as regarding what labour has the highest magnitude of impact.⁵¹

8.4.1 Time

I will begin with the time factor. The time factor should *not* be understood as the same thing as abstract time in the logic of value-constituting labour. Abstract (labour) time is an emergent social mechanism that constitutes value, is only fully realised in exchange and is immeasurable (see chapter 4). Attempts of commodity-producing labour to conform to abstract time (as SNLT) are essentially guesswork, as the validation of labour as abstract labour time (as constitutive of value) only happens after production, in exchange (Heinrich, 2004/2012).

The time factor is the direct, overt use of mechanical clock-hours as a temporal norm for tasks done as labour, in order to establish a reliable, disciplined stream of production (Hoffmann & Paulsen, 2020). The necessity of conforming to SNLT means that commodity-producing labour is inclined to generate such overt norms, but this process is something that happens outside of this subtype of labour as well. The existence of invariant (clock-based) time units is necessary for both abstract time

⁵¹ This may well be the case, but determining specific magnitudes is outside the scope of this thesis.

and the time factor, but the two, while interconnected and compatible, are *not* in my analysis the same phenomena.⁵² Opposite Hoffmann and Paulsen (2020)

As Heinrich (2004/2012) notes, the SNLT required to produce something may ebb and flow (e.g. if there is a bad year for a crop, requiring more work to produce the same amount as the year before). The desire to countervail these uncertainties and fluctuations – making for less guesswork – is then something that individual capitalists and managers want to do, something not directly due to value per se.⁵³ Renewable energy production with its unsteady flow of electricity poses a problem for firms' preferences for and need of constant, invariant (or increasing) access to resources;⁵⁴ the non-uniform ecological temporalities of the wind, the sun and water cycles come to a head with the desire for temporally reliable and controllable energy flows. With non-commodity-producing labour, such as state welfare services, the dynamic is not one of producing surplus value, but *reliably* and *efficiently* getting the most use value out of the funds (value) available to spend. For example, a nurse making home visits may be instructed to drive fast so that the time between visits is minimised – regardless of the environmental impact of the (potential) increased emissions from the car.

The time factor is also reinforced by the way employment generally happens, which is according to standardised clock-hours of work time. Generally (but not universally), people work a predetermined amount of time per day, and so managing labour is also fitting whatever production that needs to happen within the confines of this set daily (or weekly, etc.) amount of work time, giving rise to a need to keep the amount of work (in a temporal sense) invariant as much as possible. Worst-case, the employer is left with idle workers, wasting the labour-power purchased. Furthermore, the time factor is also reflected in the workers' own relation to work – one of the most central topics of labour struggles has been the reduction of work time (Hoffmann & Paulsen, 2020). Given that workers are dependent on labour and wages to live well (Hoffmann & Paulsen, 2020), this also incentivises a *stable* (invariant) rate of income and thus of working hours.⁵⁵

_

⁵² To give a comparison: If a chef is instructed to prepare three meals per hour, this is the overt, concrete, temporal discipline of the time factor. However, the pressures of value and SNLT – abstract time – are only present when these meals are commodities. Only with the chef's labour as commodity production is there an *abstract* pressure to (over time) increase the rate of meal (commodity) production, in order to conform with the SNLT (which may arrive indirectly as new orders of efficiency). This abstract pressure does not (directly) exist when not producing the meals as commodities, but the time factor may still mean that efficiency gains are made a requirement in the workplace.

⁵³ The value produced in the crop example would remain the same, after all – only the value of single commodities from production would change. However, the more this fluctuates, the more difficult it would presumably be to correctly estimate the present SNLT.

⁵⁴ Bernes (2018) discusses this further in relation to the move from water to coal-based steam power, drawing on Malm (2016). See also Hoffmann & Paulsen (2020).

⁵⁵ While workers are, as discussed, paid for their labour-power and not their labour, income is still generally overtly calculated in hours (this can be fit into value terms: if one works part-time, there is less exhaustion and

The differentiation of abstract time and the time factor may seem like hair-splitting – the factor's operation in both commodity-producing and non-commodity-producing labour can be traced back to the centrality of value as the social form of wealth. On the surface of it and in the immediate present, this appears to be true. However, this distinction is important when considering what role labour, and not just as a part of value's logic, plays ecologically, and what that means for how labour should be treated politically.

8.4.2 Scale

While the time factor concerns the temporal matters of labour, the *scale factor* concerns the physical expansion of labour's material throughput. That is, production *expands* as the concrete content of labour changes. This process is intimately tied to time but is different. the time factor concerns a disconnect in temporal logics; the scale factor concerns the problem of the level of throughput of materials and energy in production and its disconnect with what scales are actually sustainable.

Hoffmann and Paulsen's (2020) first aspect of the scale factor is that more work means more material throughput. This is true – mass unemployment would certainly mean a drop in production. It is also the case that all else equal, a 12-hour standard working day would result in more production than the current typical 8-hour standard. ⁵⁶ The other aspect of the factor is the conditions that enable increased productivity and hence production. In Hoffmann and Paulsen (2020) these (labour) productivity increasing factors include technological development, a fossil fuel energy basis and externalisation of costs. And, I might add, management practices interested in increasing efficiency and labour intensification (discussed in e.g. Frayne, 2015) also contribute to the rise in productivity.

The immediate problem with this second aspect of the factor as Hoffmann and Paulsen present it, is that the increase in scale seems to follow automatically from the *technologies and techniques* of production – that the technologies (including energy production, management) themselves give rise to a dynamic of not only increased productivity but also production. Opposite this, I posit that the dynamic of growth in material throughput results from the social form of wealth – the dynamics of value (capital), as discussed in chapter 5.4. That is, the driver of material throughput growth is a *socially constituted* dynamic of economic growth (value as capital), not something resulting from

_

thus less working capacity lost that needs to be reproduced. If one then has to work for several employers to get a living wage, the cost of the labour-power reproduction in its entirety is simply spread out across employers).

⁵⁶ This arithmetic is what makes the idea of work time reduction as environmental policy appealing (among other reasons) – but as I will discuss in chapter 10 below, the reality is not so straightforward.

technologies themselves. The technologies, however, form a necessary precondition for this growth happening.

While the capital does require its own growth (the self-valorisation of value), this growth does not require any specific type of use value to be created – in principle, all the growth could happen through zero-impact use values, only that this is an impossibility in the world we live in (see chapter 3.3 above). The externalisation of ecology Hoffmann and Paulsen (2020) discuss does not happen in the scale factor, but is already present as a product of value's dynamics. This means that the scale factor is not a result of value as the socially dominant form of wealth as a logical necessity but is rather an emergent phenomenon. As discussed, the constant changes in SNLT result in a dynamic where concrete labour is pushed toward ever new standards of increased production of use values, which means increased material throughput.⁵⁷

As with the time factor, the scale factor emerges from and is physically necessary for commodity-producing labour – all commodities need some minimum of materials and energy. Value-constituting labour has a dynamic independent of physical aspects, as natural factors are external. This dynamic is however also dependent on changes in concrete labour – the changing standard of SNLT and hence for what is required for labour to actually constitute value is dependent on the physical processes of labour as concrete labour. On the other hand, the scale factor is the changes in concrete conditions as such – that the introduction of technologies and energy sources results in more production, and not in e.g. a reduction in work-hours.

At the same time, externalisation does happen outside the underlying logic of value as well – costs are for example calculated with regards to money costs and labour time, not according to material throughput as such. However, this externalisation reflects the actual externalisation in labour's dynamic and is not a thing that just happens. Externalisation also happens through the work ethic – activity that functions as labour is given social validation as useful. The underlying implication is that use-values are first and foremost created through labour – even though, as chapter 6 discusses, this is not at all the case. However, this means that there is an incentive to precisely utilise the most efficient (in terms of labour time) techniques and technology to produce use values – since that means society gets more use values in total, and as that is the activity that gets recognised societally as valuable – as labour.⁵⁸

⁵⁸ Even though other activities may be recognised as also being valuable, it is, following the work ethic, really labour that is *the* socially valuable form of activity.

⁵⁷ As Hoffmann and Paulsen (2020) note, this holds even for the service sector. See also Kallis (2017).

Thus, even though the scale factor is intimately connected to value's dynamics, its pressures also become independent goals at the socially overt level. And so, maximising labour productivity and production also becomes a goal in non-commodity-producing situations. In addition to getting the most use values for value in terms of labour time, the pressure for maximisation is also present because maximising the productivity of labour is a social goal in itself. Maximising production is maximising provision of use-values, but only use-values insofar as they are products of labour. With for example state provisioned services (those which are not commodities and thus not value-constituting labours) there is also an incentive towards efficiency as these reproduce labour-power and capitalist society as a whole (see chapter 6). Maximising efficiency here reduces the cost (in value terms) of their provision and so reduces the cost of reproducing labour-power.

At the same time, the state may for political reasons decide to allocate resources, including labour, for things benefitting the environment, partly de-externalising ecology from labour. Note, however, that it is the de-externalisation that is a conscious choice – it is value's logic that sets the default. Even so, I believe that with the scale factor, the relation to commodity-production is perhaps the strongest, and so it becomes a less distinct (but still present) effect outside commodity production, and will remain so as long as the ideal for labour is producing as much as possible, in terms of creating products of labour (commodities or not), with ecology coming second.⁵⁹

Both time and scale are factors with socially overt features – they are factors that are overtly prescribed and enforced within the confines of labour. Even as the sources of these are the logic of value, if value were to disappear it might not by itself be enough to make these factors disappear.

8.4.3 Income

Hoffmann and Paulsen (2020) correctly state that generally, more work means more income. Furthermore, more income usually leads to more spending. For workers, the relation of work, income and spending is a necessity – capitalism has a "coercion to seek income" (Hoffmann, 2017, p. 25) through work. Or, in Marxist terms – the condition of workers is that they have nothing but their labour-power to sell to gain the means to live (Heinrich, 2004/2012). I do not want to dispute the obvious – more income does enable and generally lead to more consumption, and that income is for most people generated through work. However, I do want to consider what portion of consumption

-

⁵⁹ As an example of the work ethic's overtness and strength in this department: Even jobs where there is not actually that much to do, there is a pressure to *pretend* to do work, since the work ethic is that one must *work* – see Graeber (2018). Graeber also discusses jobs where the tasks seem to serve no other function than to assert that work is being done, even if the actual tasks serve no utility to anyone, and doing nothing would leave the people concerned better off.

one can posit as happening due to *work* and not due to the access to money – that is, due to income itself, as well as other cultural, not necessarily work-caused factors such as consumerism, etc.

There is arguably little difference between Hoffmann and Paulsen and a Marxist approach at the most basic level, here: the sale of labour-power in order to gain the means of subsistence holds for all labour, not just commodity-producing labour. ⁶⁰ The difference is that the Marxist approach provides a driver for the continued maintenance of this historically specific situation, and not just an explanation of the present: generating surplus value is dependent on a level of power over workers (or a powerlessness on their part), so that they commit to the sale of their labour-power (preferably at a low price) and accept to work so long that they generate more value than the cost of labour-power's reproduction (surplus value) (Heinrich, 2004/2012).

However, this easy compatibility changes when considering the consumption part of this factor. In the Marxist perspective, consumption generated from wages is definitionally reproduction of labour-power. Whatever the present wage level is for a job, is the cost of reproducing the labour-power for that job, including the general standard of living for a wage level. This means that the standard of living, the cost of labour-power's reproduction, can change when wages are negotiated (Heinrich, 2004/2012). As such, there is no differentiation of types of consumption – everything is reproduction of labour-power.

This general description of the relation of wages and consumption is, I believe, not enough when considering which environmental impacts from consumption are *caused by* labour. If, for example, I enjoy chocolate regardless of whether I have a job or not, it seems unlikely that my chocolate consumption is *caused* by me working. Here Hoffmann and Paulsen are on the right track in opening up the question of the connection of labour and income from it *causing* levels of consumption beyond matters of definition. However, they do not in my view sufficiently discuss the question of what is caused by *labour specifically*.

First, I think it is safe to assume that a basic level of food and other necessities (in other words, a certain level of metabolism with nature) is necessary regardless of whether one does labour or not. Second, for any consumption beyond that I believe there must be some logical necessity at play for a part of consumption to qualify as being work-caused, and not merely work-coincidental. At the very least, replenishing the energy spent at work should be considered as directly work-caused. Furthermore, I want to bring two aspects which Hoffmann and Paulsen classify under other factors

 $^{^{60}}$ Hoffmann and Paulsen do not use the Marxist terminology, but this is largely irrelevant in this instance.

into this factor – *work-induced consumption*, which was categorised under the broader work-induced factor, and *time-scarcity*, which was under the time factor (see chapter 4).

Work-induced consumption compensates for the stress and drudgery caused by work, either as a reward for working and/or as a form of therapy (Hoffmann & Paulsen, 2020; Frayne, 2015).⁶¹ That is, not only is there a question of the physical ability to work, but rewarding oneself for suffering it or compensating for the psychological toll it takes. In one sense, this is another aspect of replenishing one's ability to work, in another, it is about the ethical license to consume, as Weeks (2011) discusses. Regardless, this is *caused by* labour and not just the access to money.

Time-scarcity is also caused by work, as the working-day's colonisation of workers' time makes the time left scarcer, inducing consumption habits that are time saving but ecologically harmful (Hoffmann & Paulsen, 2020. See also chapter 10 below). This too, is induced by the time labour takes, regardless of any other tasks the worker needs to get done.⁶²

Both time-scarcity and work-induced consumption are caused by labour and enabled by the income the worker gets from selling their labour-power, hence the recategorization of those two under the income factor. My change of the income factor thus means that it does not only concern the ability to consume (both necessities and luxuries) gained from labour-generated income, but the specific kinds of income-enabled consumption that are in turn also necessitated by labour, giving the factor a narrower scope. Additionally, the sub-factors concerning consumption patterns are placed under the same common factor.

8.4.4 Work-Induced Infrastructure and Mobility

The work-induced factors are what Hoffman and Paulsen call structural, occurring "independently of the work process itself" (2020, p. 345). This must, I believe, be understood as the factors not being completely independent of any aspect of labour, but rather that they are more about being necessary for work to "take place" (Hoffmann, 2017, p. 26).

The first is *work-induced infrastructure*, which is a factor with a rather broad scope. I do not have problems with the content of the factor as such, but I will note something on causes of it. Since the infrastructure in question must be caused by labour specifically, that means that e.g. a road that

⁶² This does not necessarily mean that a removal of work's time colonisation would result in more environmentally conscious consumption, as Hoffmann and Paulsen (2020) note – see also chapter 10.

⁶¹ Some of Frayne's participants report that they consumed less once they had the time to actually enjoy themselves – or rather, that there was no need to compensate for the unhappiness of one's job (see Frayne, 2015, p.180-181).

would be necessary in a different mode of production is not as such part of the factor. Rather, infrastructures are only valid members of the factor insofar they in their entirety are necessitated by labour, and/or their *scales* are increased (beyond sustainable levels) by labour. That is, the work-induced infrastructure factor should be seen as influenced by the scale factor, and arguably the time factor, insofar as the infrastructure in question is structured by the need for constant provision of what is needed for labour to take place.

The second is *work-induced mobility*. Hoffmann and Paulsen (2020) give a brief list which includes business travel and commuting. These two types of mobility have somewhat different roles and thus dynamics behind them, but I will keep them under the same factor. Work-induced mobility in general is shaped by the need for travel to be temporally efficient, and hence energy-intensive.

Commuting is travelling *to* work – it happens outside the waged working day. Essentially, this is driven by workers generally having to collectively be at the same place at the same time, owing to concerns of productivity and efficiency (see the scale factor, as well as the time factor). Furthermore, since workers are not paid for their commuting time, they would want to minimise the travel-time to and from work (time-scarcity). Ultimately, this affects the *infrastructure* needed, in terms of e.g. road capacity for the simultaneous transit of many people.

Business travel is travelling *at* work, within the working-day proper. Business travel also tries to be fast, but the incentive here is to get the most production (be that value or e.g. specific services in non-commodity-producing labour) out of the working-day, again caused by efficiency and productivity concerns, which gives connections to the time and scale factors, as well as work-induced infrastructure.

Common to these two work-induced factors is that they are relatively broad, and scope over large parts of society that technically are not part of the labour process proper (except business travel). This is why Hoffmann and Paulsen's (2020) labelling of them as structural is correct. There might be an argument for separating them more than I have done and to spread them out as sub-factors of the others. However, I believe these two represent the complexity of labour's ecological impacts as the discussion moves more towards concrete specifics.

If the existence of value as the socially dominant form of wealth is the underlying driver of labour's problems, then these last work-induced factors are the more "surface"-level and composite (structural) ones. This is also why these are more clearly expressible as functions of the three previously discussed factors (time, scale, income) than of the value-logic of commodity-producing labour directly. At this level of specific, more fine-grained matters, seeing the effects as connected to value and the more abstract factors (e.g. time) becomes more complicated, but I believe that the two

work-induced factors illustrate that the factors are the causal mechanisms in the background, even when considering fully non-abstract matters of work.

8.5 Concluding Remarks – Labour

To sum up this chapter, I believe I have now both improved upon Hoffmann and Paulsen's framework and shown how these factors relate to the underlying mechanism of value, the social form of wealth, while still not being the same thing as it. The time factor has been left relatively intact, but I have separated it as a socially overt desire of temporal uniformity that is closely related to but not the same as the underlying value-constituting structure of abstract (labour) time. I have also been explicit in how it just as abstract time is not the same thing as the mere technological existence of invariant time units.

With the scale factor too, I have emphasised the difference between it as a social structure and its technological conditions and separated out other social conditions from the factor itself. this especially concerns externalisation and the need for economic growth, which I, contra Hoffmann and Paulsen, primarily place within value's dynamics. At the same time, I have discussed how the maintenance of labour's scale happens also outside of value as a driver – costs are primarily calculated without concerns about material throughput and sustainability as such, and the work ethic, in seeing labour as *the* useful type of activity and source of use values (to the neglect of other sources), gives a pressure to maximise its production of goods and services.

I have made an effort to make the income factor something more specific than it is in Hoffmann and Paulsen. Income, or the wage relation, is central to value's dynamics. At the same time, if value were to disappear, a situation where you had to work to live would still maintain the dynamics of wage-labour for the worker. While work is necessary for income, I have tried to specify which uses of income can be said to be caused by *labour*, and not just by the possibilities money as such give. This is also what has spurred my movement of time scarcity and work-induced consumption to the income factor, as these are instances of consumption caused by labour.

Work-induced consumption and mobility have few changes, but I have highlighted how they must specifically concern mobility and infrastructure that is caused by labour, and that would not exist without it. As discussed, these are more clearly expressible in relation to the previous factors, than to value as a driver directly.

With this, I have provided a social *driver*, an underlying mechanism that explains *why* the factors described by Hoffmann and Paulsen come to be. The factors have an existence constituted by value's

logic; they are not the same as it. That is, while their source of origin may lie in value's dynamics, the factors have, as discussed, their own dynamics which I believe would continue to operate on their own if *only value* is removed from the equation.

In chapter 8.3 I discussed value as the central driver of labour's ecologically destructive tendencies. It is a purely social mechanism unconcerned with ecology, while as a matter of fact actually needing material throughput to propagate. However, value is not enough to explain labour's ecological impacts. With my revisions, Hoffmann and Paulsen's framework shows what labour's destructive tendencies are and how they operate, and how they relate back to value – both components are necessary to understand labour's ecological problems.

To reach this understanding, it has been necessary to give an explanation of what labour is, as well as what its fundamental relation to the metabolism of humans and nature is, which chapters 8.1 and 8.2 provide, respectively. While my definition of labour is similar to those used by other authors discussed in the chapters above, I still have believed it important to be explicit in my assumptions — in my opinion, clarity and exactness in delimiting what labour is can be somewhat lacking in other texts. Another point is that my definition is clear on what labour is in general (as a historically specific, renumerated, activity), and how it is different from commodity-producing, value-constituting labour in the Marxist sense. Similarly, it has been necessary to differentiate labour as something historically specific and the transhistorical necessity of a metabolic relation between humans and nature. Some kind of productive, metabolic, activities are required in every society, and labour is one only one historically specific and dominant form of activity.

Part III

While part II is primarily concerned with understanding labour and its ecological impacts, this part concerns the normative and political consequences of that established understanding. Chapter 9 presents two normative premises – degrowth and global justice – that give a background for the discussions in the subsequent chapters. Chapters 10 and 11 discuss two policy proposals concerning labour and the environment – work time reduction (WTR) and universal basic income (UBI), respectively. Both chapters function to show the limits of politics that do not effect sufficiently substantial qualitative changes in labour. Chapter 12 discusses the ecological political problems generated by the different revised factors of ecological impact as well as value. Chapter 13 then discusses the necessity of the abolition of labour, and the direction such a politics can and should take. Chapter 14 concludes the thesis.

My overall point is that labour – a specific form of social organisation of productive activity – is itself a problem that must be overcome to achieve sustainability. The point is not to disparage extant work on concrete matters of sustainable ways of producing. No matter the type of organisation, productive activity needs to change the specific technologies and practices used in production of goods and services. As long as labour and its mechanisms persist, however, the effects of technical changes in production will be limited. Therefore, an ecological politics of labour must concern itself not only with technical aspects, but also with the end of labour and the pressures it generates. The main purpose of part III is to contribute towards the construction of such a politics.

9 Normative Preconditions

A part of the premise of this thesis is that the societal context of labour, capitalism and endless economic growth create ecological problems (see chapter 3.3 above). Before considering the political implications of the critique of labour that I have developed, I will now add two normative premises concerning what an approach for a politics going beyond capitalism and growth should entail.

First, a *degrowth* perspective means both realising that there are ecological limits that humanity should abide by, but also that life can still become better in transitioning to a sustainable society (Demaria et al., 2013). This stands in opposition to a broadly conceived "Malthusian" way of thinking, wherein ecological sustainability requires social unsustainability – through increased misery and (in worse instances) actively reducing the global population (Gómez-Baggethun, 2020). Opposite this, while degrowth is by no means a unitary programme (Demaria et al., 2013), the principle ensures an attitude of change for the better, even if the societal ideals of "better" might have to change (Kallis et al., 2018).

The second premise concerns universal and global justice as political goals (which I will per se only introduce, and not delve more deeply into). That is, no-one anywhere has any more or less a right to a good life than anyone else, which also entails that everyone has an equal right to a sustainable level of resource throughput (which does not necessitate everyone consuming the exact same things, etc. – people ultimately have different preferences). It does *not* follow that there is a singular sustainable and good way of living, or that political configurations should be identical everywhere.

Beyond communities and individuals having different preferences, there is the matter that the richer societies (the global north), a small part of the global population, are responsible for the majority of e.g. greenhouse gas emissions (Steffen, Broadgate, et al., 2015). Furthermore, the global north relies on labour in and resources from poorer societies (the global south) for their current ways and standards of living (Brand & Wissen, 2012). The responsibility for the current ecological predicaments has historically been and remains the global north's. This entails that *degrowth* is different in the global north and south, broadly speaking. More reduction in resource use must happen in the global north than the south, while some societies in the south may even increase their resource use. This is not only a matter of aggregate *ecological* sustainability, but of *social* sustainability and justice within ecological limits – the reduction in resource throughput cannot only look at the ecological, physical aspects, but ensure a just and equitable sharing of what remains.

These considerations of degrowth and global justice do not only hold for consumption (and resource flows in general), but also when considering productive activity. If labour continues to exist, it should be justly distributed. This is the case regardless of whether one's view is of labour, or productive

activity more generally, as pure drudgery or of it as a pure good (though I will not discuss these types of viewpoints here). This is also the case even if labour is abolished – people will still have to engage in metabolic relations with nature, including productive activities that presumably would be socially regulated in some fashion.

10 Work Time Reduction (WTR)

Work time Reduction (WTR) has perhaps been the main approach to dealing with labour in an ecological context. As a policy, WTR has especially been considered within the degrowth tradition, while other fields are less likely to consider the topic of work at all (Kallis et al., 2013; Hoffmann & Paulsen, 2020).

The ecological WTR literature usually approaches work with the aim to reducing environmentally harmful consumption (see Hoffmann & Paulsen, 2020). Cieplinski et al. (2021) summarize research on work time reduction and environmental impacts. Through the literature, they identify two main posited mechanisms that could make WTR generate environmental benefits – the scale and composition effects. The *composition effect* works through increased free time changing consumption patterns away from commodities that are time saving but ecologically harmful (e.g., ready-made frozen dinner), to more time-consuming but not (or less) ecologically harmful commodities (e.g. making a dinner from base ingredients). The *scale effect* (not to be confused with the scale *factor* from Hoffmann and Paulsen (2020) discussed otherwise in this thesis) results from the reduction in income and GDP growth, and thus consumption (Cieplinski et al., 2021; Hoffmann, 2017).

Both the scale and composition effects – in Cieplinski et al. (2021) – can be seen as part of the income factor in Hoffmann and Paulsen's framework. In both cases. The posited environmental benefits come from changing workers' consumption patterns - that is, consumption as induced or enabled by work. The scale effect reduces workers' incomes and so their ability to consume at all – equivalent to how the income factor enables consumption. The composition effect changes the content of consumption towards less energy-intensive and more time-intensive consumption, a possible effect that Hoffmann and Paulsen (2020) also discuss. In my revision of their framework, this can be seen as reducing consumption induced by time-scarcity.

However, both these effects remain posited, with empirical evidence and modelling being limited and contradictory (Cieplinski et al., 2021). The composition effect is entirely contingent on consumer choice – more free-time may also mean increased amounts of environmentally harmful consumption instead of a shift to consumption patterns with less impact (Schor, 2005; Cieplinski et al., 2021).

Furthermore, historically consumption (material footprint)⁶³ has increased even as labour time has decreased (Hickel & Kallis, 2019).⁶⁴

Cieplinski et al. (2021) find that the evidence from studies on the composition effect is mixed. This makes logical sense, as there is nothing *normative* in the reduction of working hours itself that induces workers to change patterns qualitatively. In principle, they will only shift consumption towards more eco-friendly patters if they already had that preference for less use of time-saving consumption, but did not have the time available to act according to it. At the same time, the study by Frayne (2015) shows that participants consume less as they work less – but note that this reduction is generally part of an active, conscious break with the current norms of society. While Frayne's work is qualitative and not as such generalisable, it does speak to a notion that less work can mean less consumption *if* this is part of not only a desire for less work in isolation, but also of a different way of life.

WTR is generally proposed in the form of converting increased labour productivity into less working hours for workers, instead of converting the productivity increase into higher wages (Kallis et al., 2013; Cieplinski et al., 2021; Hoffman, 2017). The scale effect is strongest if there is no increase in hourly wages while the amount of hours worked per worker is reduced (Cieplinski et al., 2021). However, reduced wages is unlikely to be something workers would assent to (Schor, 2005), as it is generally not desired – for example because lower-waged workers would feel those effects more adversely. On the other hand, higher-waged workers have been shown to sometimes express a desire to reduce working-hours, even if it would mean a lowered total income (Kallis et al., 2013). Thus, the more realistic situation may be one where WTR happens with at least some increase in hourly wages (for example for those in lower income brackets), which then would have less of an effect on the scale of private consumption.

Historically, reductions in working time, which started around 1870 and kept going until late in the 20th century (Schor, 2005) have been accompanied by increases in resource use and greenhouse gas emissions (Kallis et al., 2013; Hickel & Kallis, 2019). However, the actual relation between working hours and emissions is not clear – as analyses both show positive and negative correlations (Kallis et al., 2013; Cieplinski et al., 2021; Schor, 2005).

footprint measures not only domestic resource use and emissions, but accounts for that happening in production and transport of goods produced outside the country in question.

64 As for the idea that a transition to a service-based economy would reduce footprints, Kallis (2017) argues –

G3 The situation looks different using different measurements (see Hickel & Kallis, 2019; Schor, 2005). Material

with reference to empirical data – that this is not the case. See also Hoffmann and Paulsen (2020).

⁶⁵ Several of his participants do not only reduce working hours, but actively reject employment as such and the work ethic as a mode of living and as a standard for what is moral and desirable in life (Frayne, 2015).

However, even if the relation between GHG emissions and working hours is positive, the reduction in emissions from reduced working hours may not be sufficient to reach sustainable impact levels. 66 Cieplinski et al. (2021) analyse the effects of WTR based on productivity gains being converted to less working hours rather than wage increases. Their model shows that WTR significantly reduces unemployment and gives a small decrease in GHG emissions. 67 At the same time, they also conclude that there is a trade-off between reduced unemployment and environmental goals – the reduction in emissions and consumption is partly offset by reduced unemployment (the offset is partial, as both unemployment and emissions are reduced in all their models). Similarly, Kallis et al. (2013) argue that WTR needs to reduce the hours per *capita* and not per worker – an increase in total employment could negate the effect, as well as having other environmentally negative effects on e.g. transport and infrastructure.

A further aspect limiting the effects of WTR, is that of productivity forming the basis for this type of policy. As Kallis et al. (2013) point out, increases in labour productivity (output per worked hour) can have sources in the productiveness (the capability to produce) of the workers themselves, through education and improved skills, or through other means such as new machinery. The latter source is often ecologically undesirable if e.g. a new or faster machine requires more energy and/or materials.

This means that WTR as an attempt to reduce ecological impacts from the income factor potentially influences the scale factor negatively – reduction in one factor (income) may influence and cause increased impact in another (scale). While this does not mean that these cross-factor changes cancel each other out, this does mean that the total impact reduction across factors may be lowered. In isolation, WTR potentially changes consumption behaviour, but leaves work and its more direct impacts intact (Hoffmann (2017) briefly notes this possibility as well).

One can question whether large enough productivity increases for substantial WTR would even be desirable, or possible. Kallis et al. (2013) point out that the future might hold *less* available energy, and so further improvements on things like automation can become difficult. Hoffman (2017) points out that in care work (e.g. healthcare, teaching), increased labour productivity can be "neither meaningful nor desirable" (p. 30). Thus, as Kallis et al. (2013) say – in a future with less energy, we (primarily "we" in the richest, most industrialised countries) may in the end have to work more, not

Additionally, the reduction of both emissions and unemployment is smaller when WTR is modelled without other policies supporting the effect, or if it's done globally instead of in one country (Cieplinski et al, 2021).
 They provide several different scenarios in their modelling – one where WTR happens in a single country, then there is a scenario where WTR happens globally and one where government deficit rules are taken into account. While the scenarios give different levels of greenhouse gas emissions, I discuss aspects that apply to all the scenarios.

less, given that the level of production is to stay similar⁶⁸. However, any definite answer to whether the total time spent doing productive activities would actually be higher or lower in any sustainable future organisation of production is beyond the scope this thesis.

WTR may be a useful policy in the short term, as it can curb output and consumption growth if the reduction induced by the policy is substantial (Kallis et al., 2013; Hoffmann & Paulsen, 2020; Frey, 2019), which entails not reducing unemployment as well as not increasing hourly wages (Cieplinski et al., 2021). One reason why this is a short-term solution, is that it only delays the effects of e.g. technological development – while one set of productivity gains may be shifted to reducing work time, this does not, at the level of underlying social mechanisms, automatically mean that this will be the case with further productivity gains. More fundamentally, since the prospects for WTR seems to lie in productivity increases, this means that WTR does not actually reduce the level of production. The goal of labour is valorisation, not more free time, meaning that the default option according to labour itself is to increase valorisation, not free time. Each round of WTR would then be a new struggle against what the function of labour is – increasing value. 69 Keeping the benefits of WTR and making further progress would then be contingent on beating this driver inherent in labour every time.

Ultimately, WTR comes into opposition with labour and its aspects – WTR does not do away with the problems of labour discussed in chapter 8 above. Labour still has the same purpose as always - valorisation. The time and scale factors still operate as before – whether the working day is 10, 8 or 6 hours does not change that. Kallis et al. (2013) suggests that WTR could reduce impacts from commuting (work-induced mobility), *if* e.g. days off from work are coordinated. If operating hours are shortened, this could also mean less electricity use from workplaces, for example (work-induced infrastructure). This latter point is, however, dependent on not being countervailed by increased electricity needs induced by productivity gains – that is, interference from the scale factor.

While WTR potentially has a suppressive effect on the ecological impact of labour, specifically through the income factor, it does not *break with* the income factor (or any other) as a driver of ecological destruction as such. With WTR, income is still *the* means to consumption. It does not halt this logic of needing to seek employment (and to work a given period of time, at the behest of the

-

⁶⁸ Bernes (2018, p.262-3) discusses this in relation to agriculture, arguing that a move from unsustainable practices common in industrial agriculture means that more people would have to spend more time participating in agricultural production.

⁶⁹ Which one can also see historically, beyond pure logic. As Schor (2005) discusses, reducing work hours has historically been and is a policy needing strong pressure against firms' preferences for longer hours.

employer), in order to live.⁷⁰ That is, while WTR would make being at work take up less of a working day (or year) – this does not change the role of labour as a driver of ecological degradation. It is rather a matter of curtailing those existing factors of labour, contingent on its context with regards to other policies and events. This does not make WTR useless but shows its limitations regarding solving the problems of labour.

Highlighting these limits also shows that there is reason to be sceptical of the capacity different forms of WTR have to decentre work as such, a capacity suggested by many proponents (e.g. Hoffmann, 2017; Frayne, 2015; Weeks, 2011). WTR changes the time spent at work but does not by itself make work less important in people's lives, both in terms of needing to work to live, and the cultural centrality of one's employment.⁷¹

In the worst case, centring the quantitative change in work time potentially diverts attention away from the more fundamental ecological problem – the mechanisms of labour. As noted above, achieving sustainability might actually force people to spend more time doing production than they currently do. A too narrow focus on reducing work time may have later adverse repercussions if ecological constraints mean we have to spend more time for the same (or lower) level of output; while less time spent on drudgery that *needs* to be done to live is desirable, having it as the prime goal of labour politics could make political agreement on spending *more* time difficult.⁷²

In sum, reducing work time alone holds potential for short-term ecological benefits, at least as a way of staving off the impacts of labour productivity gains. However, this type of policy does not change the underlying imperatives of labour, and so is limited in the long run. Furthermore, as a purely quantitative politics, work time reduction risks being a hindrance for a politics also critical of the *qualitative* problems of labour. Reducing worked hours for people, however socially beneficial, alone has highly limited benefits as long as the factors of labour driving ecological destruction remain. A politics solely desiring reduced working hours also might clash with ecological necessities, if the more sustainable option is for people to spend more time doing productive (metabolic) activities,

⁷⁰ A Marxian argument could be made more strongly: Workers in the first instance get paid for their *labour-power*, the capacity to work, which value is determined by the cost of its reproduction (which also includes "luxury" consumption, etc.) – reduced working hours do not *in principle* change the value of labour-power, only the value firms gain from using it. However, the price (and value) of labour-power is determined by struggle between workers and capitalists (see. Heinrich, 2004/2012), which then also includes determining how much "luxury" reproduction entails (that is, the standard of living in everyday language). See also chapter 5.4 above.

⁷¹ I can also note that people generally work 8 hours a day, and not 12 or 10, and yet the necessity and centrality of employment remains.

⁷² This also points to the limits of André Gorz (1980/1997)'s idea of a sphere of heteronomy (drudgery, work necessary to live and maintain society) which should be *temporally* minimised to the benefit of a sphere of autonomy (free activity of people).

organised as labour or as some other social arrangement. With only a quantitative reduction of working time, the *qualitative* problems of labour as described in part II remain.

11 Universal Basic Income (UBI)

Universal Basic Income (UBI) is a policy that has gained traction as a way to make society less work-focused (see. Hoffmann & Paulsen, 2020; Weeks, 2011; Srnicek & Williams, 2015) as well as providing both freedom and equality (Hall et al., 2019; Bidadanure, 2019). UBI achieves this by providing all citizens of a state (or some otherwise defined population) with a liveable income without any requirements for receiving it. The UBI is for example received regardless of whether the person has a job or not, (Bidadanure, 2019).⁷³

UBI appears to be far from as common as WTR as a proposed strategy for reducing the environmental impacts of work, but it is treated in the degrowth-aligned literature (e.g. Alexander, 2015; Hoffmann & Paulsen, 2020) and otherwise in sustainability literature (Hall et al., 2019). Nevertheless, it is otherwise frequent in literatures critical of work. My interest, however, lies in considering what potential it has for curtailing labour's environmental problems.

As Hoffmann and Paulsen (2020) note, a UBI absolves people of the need to seek employment in order to live their lives – and so, labour and income are decoupled. In terms of changing labour, this is in principle the only thing UBI does.⁷⁴ While people would certainly be richer if they sought employment, they could also get by on the means given by the UBI. The income factor is thus weakened, though as with WTR, the curtailment of this connection between labour and income does not guarantee that people would shift *consumption* patterns in a sustainable way, either with the UBI alone or with UBI plus additional income from employment.

Since this is an income policy, UBI does not in the first instance change the other factors. However, UBI may more indirectly affect other factors: Since people can choose not to work and still live comfortably, they are at least to some extent in a position to refuse working conditions (and not just wages) they would deem unacceptable. As such, the scale factor could as a consequence be reduced to the degree that its impacts are caused by working conditions such as the intensity of the work for

_ 7

⁷³ This is the policy in its idealised form. Concrete proposals can have restrictions on who can achieve it (e.g. people with incomes well above the average are denied access) or require some kind of social contribution (see Hall et al, 2019; Alexander, 2015; Hoynes & Rothstein, 2019).

⁷⁴ Hoffmann (2017) briefly discusses a UBI combined with an ecological cap and taxation scheme with e.g. emission limits. This would potentially incentivise (if not force) more environmentally friendly consumption, as well as technological shifts in production. Thought this would potentially affect impacts done through labour (a part of production), it is also contingent on a policy which is not UBI proper. For the problems curtailing emissions through taxation etc, see the discussion on capitalism's growth imperative in chapter 3.3.

the workers. This is given that workers are willing to oppose that work intensity even at the risk of lower wages (since productivity would go down) or not getting work at all.⁷⁵

Furthermore, as Weeks (2011) discusses, UBI, both as an actual policy as well as a mare articulated political demand as such prompts people to consider a life beyond work – and a decentring of work. This is true, both in terms of economic opportunity, and in terms of opposing the work ethic directly. UBI entails a right to be provided for without having a job; instead of having to either conform to the work ethic or to justify why one cannot (and qualify for some conditioned income from the government, for example), one receives the means of subsistence simply by existing. The possibility to live without labour is thus posited, against a society where labour is *the* means to live.

However, UBI as a reform is also limited — even if some people could live off UBI, someone must still do all the production (which is true in any social-economic system). If the UBI comes from the state, the state needs a stream of revenue (value) from production to provide the UBI, a stream which again requires workers — not to mention that the production of goods and services as such generally requires labour. As Hoffmann and Paulsen (2020) discuss, the state, as well as other parts of society, is dependent on labour. This, ultimately, means that UBI can only give people power to reject employment to a certain extent — if too many people reject work, the state and businesses would lose their revenues, with the UBI losing its funding in the process. Consequently, UBI has a limit on how much it can impede the ecological impacts of labour, given that labour and capitalism otherwise operate as normal.

In sum, universal basic income has its limited merits. Potentially, it partly decouples income and labour, albeit the extent to which people can do this is limited both by the wider economic system and because *someone* needs to engage in metabolic activity and produce goods and services — something that is the case regardless of the social system in place. This also places limits on how much UBI can change the ecological impact of labour, even with respect to the income factor. However, it *does* open for the idea of a mode of living where labour has less centrality in life, through being less intimately connected to the means of living.

67

⁷⁵ Workers could also do this *now,* in theory, but the consequences of failure are then larger, since there is no UBI to fall back on.

12 The Problems of Labour

Both of the policies above, UBI and WTR, broadly share a similar problem: while they are not fully ineffectual environmental policies, they are by their nature limited. The policies do not change labour itself as a social structure. UBI allows for some limited decoupling of labour and income, but this does not necessarily entail a change in impacts. Additionally, the changes UBI could cause in employment are quantitatively limited, as labour (still being the dominant form of productive activity) is still needed for society and metabolic relations to operate – the prospects of *qualitative* change seem highly limited. Arguably more central is WTR, which seems to be more discussed in ecological contexts, and which seems to have more traction. Since WTR also is more clearly purely a change in quantity, it is also here that the problems of a purely quantitative policies are most apparent. WTR does change how many hours people work, the posited benefits are primarily grounded in *consumption* changes, not production changes per se. Labour remains, changed in quantity, but unchanged in its *qualitative* aspects.

This illustrates the political problem: Since the ecological problems of labour are inherent to labour, labour itself, as a social structure, must be changed.⁷⁶ Ultimately, this entails the complete transformation or abolition of labour – which falls under what has been called postwork politics (Hoffmann & Paulsen, 2020; Weeks, 2011).⁷⁷

I will begin discussing the question of going beyond labour by looking at the political implications carried by value and all of Hoffmann and Paulsen's (2020) factors. I will return to the question of the abolition of labour *per se* in chapter 13.

12.1 Valuation

As discussed in chapter 8, value is the underlying driver of labour's ecological destructive tendencies. In being steered by value, labour is shaped to increase valorisation, with the fulfilment of needs as use-values being a secondary result. Value is a temporal form of wealth, constituted by labour time – ecology is irrelevant to it; the only purpose of value is to generate more value. Politicizing labour,

-

⁷⁶ I mostly have been and will gloss over the purely social problems of labour. Hoffmann (2017) provides a brief overview. Longer-form discussions of the social problems with labour are numerous, see e.g. Marx (1867/1990), Lafargue (1883), Gorz (1980/1997). More recent contributions include Weeks (2011), Frayne (2015) and Graeber (2018).

⁷⁷ Note that postwork politics is not a uniform program in which everyone agrees with my definition of the term. It might as well only mean dethroning work from its central place in society, keeping some kind of "work" intact in some form or another (Hoffmann & Paulsen, 2020).

then, does not only mean a politics of labour *time*, but politicising how production happens and why – not only the temporal frame of production, but also its content and social form.

The *how* does not (only) mean which technologies are employed, but how they are applied through the social organisation of production. When labour either must maximise value (value-constituting labour) or minimise its cost (as labour-power) in value terms (labour that does not constitute value), the techniques and technologies chosen, as well as how they are used, are shaped by the pressures of continued valorisation. The *why* means that the goal of production must change from value accumulation to realising concrete goals – something that must ultimately be subject to political discussion. Politicisation of these aspects is necessitated by the need to regulate the metabolism of humans and nature consciously, meaning politically.

The end of value as a driver of labour does not automatically entail that its other ecologically destructive factors also end their operation (as I will discuss below) – value's abolition is necessary, but insufficient. Shaping human productive activities to be sustainable does not automatically happen due to the absence of previous social drivers – activities must be actively shaped. While I emphasize labour's problem due to its *qualitative* aspects as a social structure, this does not mean that its problems are not also *quantitative* – they also regard the physical level of production.

However, explicitly regulating the quantities of production means qualitatively changing how production is regulated: Enacting necessary changes requires a regulation that *directly* addresses what to produce and how. Questions regarding how much time people would have to spend producing things would follow *from* these decisions, and not the other way around. That is, the problem is not the use of clocks to know the time, but the socially normative function of uniform and abstracted temporality.

12.2 Time and Scale

Even if the goal, value's self-valorisation, changes, production might still retain other harmful features of labour. Hoffmann and Paulsen's (2020) categories, valid for the entire category of labour, are thus also necessary to change to have a system of production that is sustainable. The abolition of value implies that production must change in both the why and the how. But this does not say much about which *hows* need to change. While they do not discuss this, Hoffmann and Paulsen's

categories do reveal certain directions for productive activity, at least in the negative – the directions the organisation of production *cannot* take.⁷⁸

The problems caused by the time factor, the break with varied ecological temporalities, imply that a new form of productive activity cannot have the general form of continuous production, with a constant (or expanding) rate of output. Keeping the old form would entail continuing to disregard and violate the temporal rhythms of ecosystems. Rather, different productive activities' temporal rhythms would have to follow the temporalities of the relevant parts of nature – giving ecosystems time to recover and not disintegrate, allow resources to be replenished and so on. Furthermore, avoiding the time factor also means that production processes can and should *finish*. Opposite the time factor, where labour goes on forever, post-labour productive activity should stop when its task has been fulfilled.⁷⁹

Beyond the necessity of reducing the total scale of resource and energy throughput, the scale factor implies that *efficiency*, specifically the efficiency of human productive activity (labour efficiency or productivity), should not be a goal privileged above sustainability needs. Both as a result of value's dynamics and as a socially overt goal, efficiency as a primary goal poses a problem. Instead, efficiency in terms of how much time humans must spend in production must be subordinate to sustainability. This means that convenient time-saving technologies or techniques will have to be abandoned or not put to use in the first place if their use entails ecological destruction. Conversely, ecologically harmless efficiency gains might entail reducing the time spent in production, as increasing the total *scale* of output may be unsustainable.⁸⁰

12.3 Income and Work-Induced Infrastructure and Mobility.

For income, the problem in the first instance lies in that the ability to consume, including the consumption needed to live, is tightly tied to labour. A perpetuation of this arrangement with labour or some new organisation of productive activity would drive people to produce because they need

⁷⁸ To the degree that the descriptive analysis is present in their work, it is perhaps fair to say that I am making explicit what may implicitly lie in their article (as well as Hoffmann, 2017). At the same time, I have also made some developments in part II that has given an analysis that is to some extent different and hence has arguably other political implications.

⁷⁹ Not all activities would have definite endpoints. Some things, like farming, have to be repeated indefinitely in order for people to subsist. See also Arendt's (1958/2018) work-labour distinction.

⁸⁰ With regards to this factor Hoffmann and Paulsen (2020) *do* make a political claim: that WTR would alleviate the scale factor. However, this is not true both because WTR policies are mostly based on productivity gains, but also because WTR does not *stop* productivity gains. Logically, at some point when the work time has reached some limit of reduction, further productivity gains will start counteracting the gains made by WTR.

an income. What the productive activity would produce, or how it would be done would be irrelevant as long as one would have to do it to live.

The individual's access to goods and services must necessarily be decoupled from their participation in productive activity. A lack of decoupling may not only give a compulsion to *produce*, but also a sense of entitlement. Those who produce could feel that increased (unsustainable) consumption levels for them would be *deserved* because they have been taking the burden of a production process. At the same time, there may be productive activities necessary for society which no one (or not enough people) would want to do of their own free will. It might then be the case that some reward system (or, perhaps less ideally, a system of coercion) would need to be put in place to ensure that these productive activities are done. In that case, the decoupling of participation productive activity would not be completely decoupled from access to goods and services. However, such a system would have to be limited in scope and be sufficiently qualitatively different from the wages system so as to avoid perpetuating the income factor.

In my reconfiguration of Hoffmann and Paulsen's categories, I have placed time-scarcity and compensatory consumption under income. While these are tied to income under labour, their ultimate cause is the participation in production. Thus, even with income done away with, the system productive activity must be reconfigured so that people do not feel time-scarcity at a level that induces a demand for harmful time-saving consumption. Likewise, production should not make people so physically or mentally damaged so that they seek to alleviate their pains through ecologically harmful (levels of) consumption. As such, a certain level of social well-being must be in place in productive activities, in order to avoid ecological harm.

This is not only a question of *money* as it is known today and renumeration of labour, but also of what ethical status the individual's work or productive activity has. In placing labour as the socially useful and good activity, the work ethic (see chapter 7) not only gives a pressure to get a job, but also enables work to be the source of rewards, even those rewards one gives oneself. If one has contributed to society, done the right thing in going to work, one might feel entitled to reward oneself for that, through (unsustainable) consumption. The work ethic then reinforces compensatory consumption (see chapter 8.4.3). In this sense, at least, a post-labour society must also do away with anything equivalent to the contemporary work ethic.

71

⁸¹ While Hoffmann and Paulsen (2020) note the individual's dependence on work to live, as well as positing income from labour as generating consumption in general (which I have critiqued above), they do not say anything about a *necessity* of moving beyond the wage relation.

Work-induced mobility and work-induced infrastructure give certain more concrete indications as to the content of post-labour productive activity. Both are partly dependent on the scale of production, and thus reliant on the scale factor. Mobility has, as discussed, two aspects. Travel *at work* (or while taking part in productive activity) is dependent on both the efficiency pressures of the scale factor, as well as the time factor's pressure to keep production going as temporally monotonously as possible. At the same time, travel *to* and *from* a workplace is dependent on certain pressures of efficiency as well as a kind of time-scarcity. Commuting thus also has to be shaped so it does not demand too big roads (etc.) or demand harmful speeds of transit.

Infrastructure would also have to be reduced, scale-wise. At the same time, concrete physical aspects of it would have to change – Hoffmann and Paulsen (2020) for example note the problems of the energy basis of production. Since infrastructure also includes long-lasting fixtures, there might also be cause for not only stopping use at a certain sale, but actively removing infrastructures that e.g. occupy a sizeable amount of land.

⁸² As part of their discussion of the scale factor.

13. The Abolition of Labour

The different factors of labour's ecological impact, as well as value, each have their own political implications, which follow from their distinct ecological effects discussed in part II. While they are intimately connected, and some function as drivers to the others, the removal of one factor is not enough to remove the rest. The driver (value) may increase the impact of a factor and be the initial impetus, but this does not entail that the disappearance of the driver necessities the disappearance of the resultant factor. For example, if the scale factor is neutralised, this does not mean that the infrastructure of labour is suddenly sustainable. Making labour sustainable thus entails its complete transformation – or, rather, its *abolition* and replacement with a different mode of production entirely. In this thesis, this is the meaning of postwork, which I will expand on in chapter 13.1.

What I furthermore will discuss in this chapter is a *direction* of the politics of abolition. Chapter 13.2 discusses aspects of what abolition entails, while chapter 13.3 provides a highly preliminary discussion of political change in the direction of the abolition of labour. Much as in the discussion on the specific factors of labour in chapter 12 above, the discussion here will not give much in the way of positive statements of what will happen at any high level of specificity, but rather I will discuss what kind of principles an ecologically sustainable regulation of production should adhere to. Giving much in the way of concrete policies concerning the abolition of labour would be beyond the capacities of this thesis. This discussion will thus not give blueprints for putting postwork politics into concrete practice, but hopefully it will be a step on the way to a fuller understanding of what a process of abolition and replacement of labour needs to entail.

13.1 The Meanings of Abolition and Postwork

The abolition of labour (or work) is the end of labour, as I have defined it, as an extant social structure and conceptualisation of productive activity.⁸³ This is also what I mean by postwork. My use of the term can be contrasted with how postwork is discussed by some other authors, where postwork is more construed as decentring work, reducing its place in society, reducing how much time it takes up or as making certain reforms to it (Weeks, 2011; Frayne 2015; Hoffmann & Paulsen, 2020). My use of postwork is stricter: It entails fully going beyond labour, it is abolition.

As discussed above (chapter 8.2), labour both regulates the relations of humans to nature and between humans and humans. Combined with the dominant position labour has in society,

⁸³ It does not mean the abolition of work in the sense of the abolition of drudgery or necessary human productive activities (see e.g. Srnicek & Williams (2015), for such a conception).

abolishing labour thus entails categorically, qualitatively, changing not only human-nature relations, but also the web of relations between humans. As Weeks (2011) discusses, fundamentally changing society requires destruction – transformation implies the end of what is and the introduction of something new, including aspects of one's self (since people are shaped by and shape societies). In the context of ecology, this really means that to preserve desirable ecological conditions that form the basis for the flourishing of current societies and their social relations, those social relations (and societies) must be destroyed and replaced. Abolition of labour, due to this dual role, thus does not only mean a change in (destruction and replacement of) the form of metabolic activities, but also in the relations of *humans* and thus of humans themselves (as our relations shape us).

Postwork politics as abolition is as mentioned different from that of other authors, who tend to focus on decentring. In Weeks (2011) the terms postwork and antiwork, are all different components of a process towards a society beyond work (which still seems to not imply actual abolition).84 Hoffmann and Paulsen (2020) treat postwork both as a critical attitude to work itself and as containing "the potential for an emancipatory transformation of industrial society" not necessarily entailing "abolishing work tout-court" (p. 348, emphasis in original). In my analysis, quantitative reductions (both in terms of work time, work's ethical importance and how much space it takes up in society) are insufficient. Labour, having the qualities and dynamics it has, must abolished in its entirety – its individual components cannot be singled out and replaced piecemeal, they must instead all be done away with, ending labour as a social form of organisation in the process.

I am here using my particular definition of labour, which is, as discussed, different from those of others (e.g. Hoffmann & Paulsen, 2020; Weeks, 2011; Postone, 1993). When Hoffmann and Paulsen (2020) discuss the need to change the "organisation of work" (p. 349), for example, this can be seen as part of the political direction I am advocating. Postone's (1993) discussion of the necessity of abolishing capitalist labour (as opposed to just labour, as I am saying) must be understood as close to the scope of what I am advocating, though in a somewhat different context.85 The fundamental point of agreement with Postone is that the shift is qualitative and concerns labour in its entirety.

Postone can be contrasted to other ecologically oriented Marxist approaches. Burkett (1999/2014) emphasizes the necessity of abolishing value but leaves labour relatively unexamined. Similarly, Stoner and Melathopoulos (2018) discuss the approaches of both Moore (e.g. Moore 2015) and

⁸⁴ In Weeks, antiwork is the critique of work society, while postwork imaginaries are used to "point toward a horizon of utopian possibility" (p. 30). Antiwork denotes the rejection of the current society, whereas postwork, broadly speaking, is the alternative politics.

 $^{^{85}}$ Postone's (1993) discussion is in the context of abolishing capitalist labour as opposed to affirming labour as something that will be liberated, or become unalienated, under socialism.

Foster (e.g. Foster 2000), critiquing both for in different ways not treating capitalist labour (or labour, in my definition) as something qualitatively different than pre- or post-capitalist forms of production.⁸⁶ Abolition of labour is not just about value as the form of wealth, but also about *specific* factors of labour that are connected to but not the same as value – hence labour cannot just continue in a slightly changed form if production is to be sustainable.

13.2 What Does Abolition Entail?

While labour makes the regulation of the metabolism of humans and nature secondary to value, a purely social form of wealth, postwork must entail a *direct* regulation of metabolic processes, as opposed to the *indirect* regulation subservient to value. By this I do not mean to imply that there is a given natural form of metabolism, but that metabolism-regulating productive activities must be consciously shaped and organised to not be ecologically harmful. Additionally, this regulation includes keeping levels of extraction of resources, for example, at sustainable levels – the ecologically relevant physical scale of throughput, or *quantity*, of productive activities still matters, even as the form has changed from that of labour.

Such a form of metabolism-focused regulation would also entail treating different activities as different activities, each with their own unique social and ecological characteristics, opposite of categorising them as labour, which even as concrete labours entails treating them as being at some level equivalent in social form, regardless of metabolic context or social qualities. That is, they would have some common social quality that would make them different from other activities as a group. This is not about linguistic categorisation, but about different activities being treated socially as equivalent processes. While activities regulating the metabolism may be given their own name, the actual matter is whether these activities are treated as unique in their concrete characteristics and ecological contexts and regulated following those, as opposed to being regulated according to some purely social common quality.

Regulation of productive activities concerns both their social and technical aspects. As discussed, technology as such does not automatically cause destruction, rather it is *which* technologies are developed, *how* they are applied and at *what* scale they are used that determines their ecologically destructive results. Socially, I do not wish to imply that the distribution of participation in production

75

⁸⁶ In the case of Moore, the problem is failing do distinguish what is qualitatively different about capitalist society, including labour, vs other (older) societies. In the case of Foster, the problem is an "uncritical and ahistorical affirmation of "labor"" (Stoner & Melathopoulos, 2018, p.123).

⁸⁷ On the historical specificity of concrete labour, see chapters 5.2 and 8.2.

cannot be done according to clock-hours. As Postone (1993) discusses, the problem is not the use of mechanical clock hours as such, but the *societal dominance* of abstract, invariant time. My point is rather that the determination of time spent in production must be *subordinate* to ecological sustainability, again dependent on the *specific* characteristics of activities and ecological processes. Discussions of reduction of "work"-time (see chapter 10) or of a politics of time (Frayne, 2015) are as such not necessarily problems by themselves, but pose problems as long as they presume labour's continued existence, instead of conceptualising a reduction of time spent doing productive activities within the context of – and constrained by – an ecologically sustainable, postwork system.

Furthermore, ecological postwork means that productive activities should have a different *social valuation*. This is related to the politicisation of "work" that Hoffmann and Paulsen (2020) discuss. Changing valuation concerns not only a different social form of wealth replacing value (in terms of consumption), but also a valuation of sustainability of production over labour productivity. This is not (just) about what people *think*, but about how the social processes in place, through which productive activity is regulated, valuate different aspects of production. However, as establishing new conscious social processes is a political question, how people think does also matter.

These changes must also include the equality in ethical status of different activities – both those forming part of production and those that do not. The work ethic (see chapter 7) privileges labour, as specific social category of activity, with giving jobholders a certain social standing, from which non-workers are excluded. A perpetuation of the work ethic would mean that people would have to generate and participate in productive activities only to be given the social standing as a proper, independent adult that the work ethic gives. Hence the ecological impact of productive activity would become secondary to social acceptance.

With work, so too must the work ethic be abolished. This is not as such about the social valuation of *production*, but about the individuals participating or not participating in productive activities. Both the exaltation of those that produce and the material rewards that come with that ethical status (see chapter 12.3) must be done away with. Partaking in a productive activity should not come with types or levels of *societal* special benefits that would incentivise people to demand participation in that activity beyond sustainable levels.⁸⁹

8

⁸⁸ That is, activities not considered productive – or labour – today, such as child-rearing, domestic upkeep, etc. Broadly speaking, the activities discussed in e.g. Barca (2020), Munro (2019) or Weeks (2011). This also entails things considered to be *leisure* or recreation (see Hoffmann & Paulsen, 2020; Weeks, 2011).

⁸⁹ Some things might still entail a specific social status – such as doing healthcare. The problem is not such phenomena as such. Instead, this is a question of being afforded a certain ethical status regardless of what it is one does (or not), as well as not locking access to material benefits behind participation in certain activities (at least insofar as that would emulate the results of the income factor – see chapter 12.3).

These points are quite broad and non-specific. However, combined with the problems of labour discussed in the previous chapter, I believe they give more clarity to what directions ecological postwork politics must take, and the degree to which these transformations of production are *fundamentally* of a different quality from labour as I have discussed it.

13.3 Labour, Abolition and Political Change

Finally, I wish to note a few things pertaining to aspects of abolishing labour in the current socioecological context. This is only a highly preliminary discussion which would need to be further developed, but at the same time I believe it is pertinent to note how the previous highly abstract discussion can be discussed as relating to our current moment.

The problem of what human societies are to do to achieve ecologically sustainable societies is of an *immediate* nature. At the same time, such politics must aim for changes that ultimately ensure *permanent* sustainability, and not just temporary changes in, for example, greenhouse gas emissions. Even as abolition of labour as such would be decades or more away (it is doubtful one could upturn a deep-held social practice instantaneously), that goal also matters for more short-term ecological politics of labour.

The trajectory of more immediate changes and measures must be towards that more permanently sustainable state of affairs. While I have stressed the limits of UBI and WTR, they do not necessarily conflict with the abolition of labour as an end-goal. However, the specific aspects of these policies then matter. If they for example are premised on still *qualitatively* exalting work (the work ethic), only with less *quantity* of it, they might reinforce the notion that only through *labour* can one have a good life, an idea that directly goes against any idea of abolition. Not because production (done as labour or not) cannot be fulfilling, but because positive aspects of activity are tied to labour to the exclusion of other activities. How activities are or can be fulfilling or not is however something I will not discuss here. On the other hand, while I have argued that the effect is limited, UBI can serve as a conduit to more fully disconnecting participation in productive activity and subsistence. However, UBI must here be seen and evaluated as a step in the right direction, *not* as an end-goal in itself, for the reasons discussed above.

_

⁹⁰ There is a certain truth to the idea that work is fulfilling. Forced idleness can be a form of torture. That is, people do want to do things, things that are by themselves enjoyable or which they deem socially useful (though the activity itself may not be enjoyable), but those things are often not labour at all, or are done in ways deemed not profitable (Graeber, 2018). Abolishing labour also means recognising this.

Furthermore, the abolition of labour must be a globally just one, simply meaning that the abolition of labour, and of specific activities (e.g. coal mining), must be done in a way that ensures that people are not left destitute, but with the means to live comfortably. This also has a global dimension – just as abolition cannot mean one class freed from labour while another still is bound to it, it cannot mean that the rich global north abolishes labour while maintaining the current exploitative, colonial relations with the global south (see Brand & Wissen, 2012; Clark & Foster, 2009; Barca, 2020).

I also wish to note some aspects regarding what parts of society would be interested in effectuating the abolition of labour. While I cannot provide strategies for change as such, it can still be useful to show potentials of ecological postwork to groupings today that may have an interest in overturning labour. This also gives an opportunity to show some convergence with the political comments made in some of the literature used. At the same time, these should be seen as early-stage comments which would need much fuller treatment than I can give here to be more directly applicable out in the world.

The state poses a problem and is not necessarily a source for support for any movement towards abolition or postwork practice. The state is itself dependent on income generated through work, as Hoffmann and Paulsen (2020) discuss. Value still remains the form of social wealth, and hence labour must continue to take place for the state to finance its services. Additionally, even if the state can be changed to serve other ends, this would still require a non-state movement to come in and change the state. As such the impetus for change must come from outside the state, from some kind of political movement (Frayne, 2015).

According to Frayne (2015), no such movement exists. At the same time, complaints about work and the surrounding culture are gaining more foothold in public discourse. Furthermore, new types of productive relations have some growing interest (Hoffmann & Paulsen, 2020). Yet, these things do not make a movement as such. In discussions of movements and politics against work, different strata of society are emphasised as sources for practice and action. Frayne (2015) emphasizes those disparate groups which end up on the margins of current work-centred society. Weeks (2011) stresses (specifically with regards to UBI and WTR) the importance of postwork for those who are unemployed or precariously employed, as well as this type of politics as a feminist project. Achieving a more equitable distribution of domestic burdens could be helped by the end of labour's privileged status, as well as the access to income (or access to consumption) without needing to work – which could also give more freedom from typical family relations.

While she does not have a postwork approach per se, Barca (2019, 2020) discusses the possibility of an alliance between workers and "meta-industrial" workers – those who grant "the conditions of

production" (2020, p. 32) (who are not workers in my definition. See chapter 8). This alliance would be founded on a common interest in not doing irreparable damage to the biosphere, achieved by changing practices of production and reproduction. In a similar vein, Hofmann and Paulsen (2020) highlight that since work historically originates in the colonial north, other forms of production in the global south form sites of struggle against work as anticolonial resistance and postcolonial thought.

Together these (somewhat overlapping) groups in principle encompass most of the world's population. These groups can and do have competing interests, but Barca (2019) is correct in pointing out that even so, there *is* a common interest in maintaining a stable biosphere, which one can define as staying within planetary boundaries. However, this common interest exists only in principle, and does not automatically become an active political force.

How articulation of a potential common cause is to be done is its own issue, which cannot be investigated in full here. I will, however, note the following: What is probably the biggest hurdle in alliance formation is that between the workers themselves and the rest. Barca (2019) notes the opposition between transformative ecological politics and the mainstream labour movement's jobs-based strategies, firmly rooted in keeping labour fundamentally as it presently is, and those disparate movements opposed to regular capitalist development as well as those in the "meta-industrial" sphere excised from being part of labour.⁹¹

The current mainstream struggles of the labour movement for e.g. better jobs, wages or working conditions are internal to the system (Heinrich, 2004/2012; Postone, 1993; O'Kane, 2018) – they are not opposed to the existence of labour but are predicated on it existing. However, this does not mean that it has to be so – labour movements could also decide to oppose labour (and capitalism) (O'Kane, 2018), but this requires different political goals. One alternative goal could be the common ecological interest. Another could be equalising the different forms of activity, which means dethroning work's privileged place, such as it is in the work ethic – though this coal does not necessarily entail the full abolition of labour. Both of these entail labourers, just as everyone else, deciding to pursue different political goals than the currently dominant ones.

It should not be surprising that a fundamental shift in the organisation of society would require changes in views that remain quite deep-seated and would require massive efforts to overturn (Frayne, 2015). How to effect such a change is beyond this thesis. However, it stands to reason that one would not change one's views if there is no problem with the current one. Hopefully this

_

⁹¹ Barca's (2020) solution to this is in part "broadening the semantic sphere of labour towards the inclusion of both industrial and meta-industrial work" (p. 60) – one which I disagree with, on account of my arguments against labour as such.

contribution to developing an ecological critique of work helps to reveal the opposition between	veen
labour and a sustainable civilisation.	

14. Conclusions

In this thesis, I have argued that labour, by dint of being a specific social structure is ecologically problematic and must necessarily be abolished if ecological sustainability is to be achieved. Reforms only touching on individual aspects or quantities of labour are thus insufficient. This ecological critique of labour complements and builds upon earlier social and ecological critiques of labour, as well as giving an impetus to furthering such critiques beyond policies that I have argued to be insufficient for solving the present ecological crises. I have made my developments along three main lines, corresponding to my three research questions:

First, I have developed the analysis that explains why labour as a social structure – as a social form of productive activity – is an ecological problem. I have done this by combining Marxist analysis, including the theory of value, with my revision of the framework from the one other work on labour as an ecological problem, Hoffmann and Paulsen (2020). I have amended their framework to improve its internal logical rigour, as well as provided value as a driver for why the factors of labour's ecological impact come to be and propagate, while also maintaining that these factors could have a life of their own without value now that they are well-established.

Using these approaches, this thesis explains how labour, down to its very core, is in opposition to the environment; labour is ignorant of the consequences of uniform, linear time against the variegated temporalities of ecosystems. It ignores any limits to matter and energy throughput. People are forced to do labour — as opposed to any other type of activity — to gain an income necessary to live, and the damage it does to them drives consumption. Both inside and outside production proper, labour forces unsustainable scales of infrastructure and unsustainable modes of transport. Labour's purpose is, indirectly or directly, valorisation of a purely social form of wealth, value. This form of wealth is entirely a-ecological — while it in reality needs a throughput of materials and energy in order to create exchangeable use values, ecology is not part of its internal logic. Since ecology is irrelevant to value, and expanding value is the purpose of labour, ecology becomes irrelevant to labour, too.

Furthering this understanding has required understanding labour and creating my own new definition of it, where labour is human activity done for payment within the context of capitalism, the payment is for one's capacity to work (labour-power), and the payment is for a given period of time. (see chapter 8.1 for the full definition). The definition demarcates labour as historically specific, and from other types of activities, as well as from being defined as identical with the metabolism of humans and nature.

I have also discussed why this state of affairs, labour, continues. Not only is it due to labour's own aspects, but also how they relate to the rest of society. Since societies are on the whole capitalist, this means that wealth is based on abstract labour time, which means that there is a compulsion to perpetuate labour for the expansion of value. This includes what Hoffmann and Paulsen (2020) call the dependencies on labour (though they do use a value analysis). The state depends on labour to finance its proceedings, as social wealth – value – stems from abstract labour time. The individual is dependent labour as it needs to work, sell labour-power, for a living. Actors in capitalist society support labour not because they want to (though some may), but because they have to. At the same time, the work ethic gives more socially overt reasons for desiring labour. Employment is the means to not just an income, but also, as Frayne (2015) notes, to be evaluated and accepted as a full, independent, member of society. The work ethic privileges labour itself over other activities. Within this ethic, any concrete aspect of a labour is irrelevant – including ecology. The work ethic socially reinforces ecology as being something external to and irrelevant for labour.

Second, I have discussed why what I have termed *quantitative* reforms will be insufficient for solving these problems. While they may have limited effects, approaches such as work time reduction (WTR), ultimately does not abolish the aspects of labour giving its harmful effects, though WTR might impede them. Similarly, this is the case with universal basic income (UBI), where most people would still have to work for a living for production to happen, if all else is equal in society. This problem also holds for attempts at changing what tasks are done, what jobs are available, within the confines of the social structure of labour – such approaches could give some alleviation, but again, simply do not change labour *per se*. Even technologies and practices that are more sustainable than what is presently the case can become unsustainable if is driven to scales beyond what the biosphere can handle, for example by being part of labour.

Third, I have discussed what these problems of labour mean politically. From the two points above, it becomes clear that the necessary condition for sustainability of production is the *abolition of labour*, meaning the end of this particular social structure for organising and executing productive tasks, and its replacement with something different. A different social structure of productive activity would need to actively regulate the human metabolic interchange with nature, which entails the end of value, the current form of social wealth, as well as shaping productive activities to not perpetuate the other factors of labour creating ecological degradation. All the harmful mechanisms currently constituted by labour must be done away with, it is not enough to do away with one of them, such as value. Abolition must both change the *why* and the *how* – production cannot be done for value's sake, and it cannot reproduce the mechanisms of the factors of labour.

I have also discussed aspects of what *direction* organisation of productive activity beyond labour could take. They are not concrete institutional proposals, but rather general inferences from the problems I have identified. Production must correspond to the temporal rhythms of ecosystems, and improvements in the productivity of productive activities cannot happen to the detriment of ecological integrity. This means no abstract time, nor any socially overt ambitions of uniform temporality of production, which would be incompatible with the varied and non-linear temporalities of ecosystems.

Abolition also entails the end of the work ethic, meaning that a particular organisation of activity, or specific types of activities cannot societally be too morally privileged, nor carry material benefits – at least to the degree this would incentivise doing the activity not for its end-result, but for the benefit given from doing it. Anything like the wages system cannot be present, or the incentive to produce may override ecological sustainability and the goals of production. Changing the *why* means that production should have different goals, ones conductive to both ecological sustainability and global social sustainability and justice. Finally, this all results in that treating all productive activities as the same type of thing, whether that is under the term labour or some other, is not tenable. Different activities must be *different* activities – no category of activity should be privileged like labour and risk becoming desirable for itself above its goals and sustainability, and different activities should be tailored to the different relevant ecological rhythms and conditions.

The problem of labour is *both* one of *quality* and *quantity*. It is a quantitative problem, since labour shapes the metabolism of humans and nature to give forms of material and energy throughput that exceeds certain quantitative limits, for example the planetary boundaries, that would result in qualitative change – both in terms of biosphere operation, and in the living conditions of humans. It is a qualitative problem, as what causes having labour to have these effects is its *qualities* as a social structure, and as part of capitalist society. A politics that only attacks the quantitative but not the qualitative will not succeed in the long run. The benefits from a quantitative policy such as WTR would be temporary, as the factors of labour would still operate as tendencies, as underlying mechanisms. At some point the effects of these factors would quantitively overtake the effects of WTR. Likewise, a politics that attacks the qualitative, abolishing labour, but not also the quantitative aspects of production, will fail as well.

This thesis has certain limits. To return to critical realism, the ecological critique of labour that I have developed is one on the level of the *real* and the *actual* and is limited in its immediate applicability at more concrete levels, including for empirical research. Doing so would, I believe, require a further connection of the rather abstract factors discussed with more surface-level social structures of

material throughput. While I have discussed political and institutional implications, these too concern the generative mechanisms of labour as they exist on the levels of the real and actual, and not the empirical. Therefore, they only take the shape of directions for the abolition of labour and rough descriptions of aspects of future organisations of production, as opposed to a fuller description of what a future beyond labour would mean. Furthermore, describing the changes for organisation of and technical aspects of specific productive activities is also beyond this thesis. As discussed, different activities must be addressed as different activities, which means that giving wholesale, sweeping solutions is not as easy as with labour.

While I have discussed the limits of quantitative policies, the proposals I make are all fundamentally *qualitative*. As a politics of production must both be qualitative *and quantitative*, this also limits the immediate utility of this thesis. Further research options regarding these goals include both refining the qualitative analyses, as well as bringing in the empirical properly, both in terms of quality and quantity. Currently we seem locked in labour, with little room for escape; there is a need for developments of pathways for going beyond labour at all. To actually change things, some positive alternatives (in the plural) should be developed, so as to give options for different futures. Abolition may be far off, but since it is necessary if ecological sustainability is to be achieved, and since the task itself is enormous, there is no time like the present for the critique of labour.

References

- Alexander, S. (2015). 32. Basic and maximum income. In G. D'Alisa, F. Demaria, & G. Kallis (Eds.), DEGROWTH: A Vocabulary for a New Era (E-BOOK).
- Angus, I. (2016). Facing the Anthropocene: Fossil Capitalism and the Crisis of the Earth System (Reprint ed.). Monthly Review Press.
- Arendt, H. (2018). *The Human Condition: Second Edition* (M. Canovan & D. Allen, Eds.; 2nd ed.). University of Chicago Press. (Original work published 1958)
- Barca, S. (2019). Labour and the ecological crisis: The eco-modernist dilemma in western Marxism(s) (1970s-2000s). *Geoforum*, *98*, 226–235. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2017.07.011
- Barca, S. (2020). Forces of Reproduction: Notes for a Counter-Hegemonic Anthropocene (1st ed.).

 Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781108878371
- Benton, T., & Craib, I. (2010). *Philosophy of Social Science: The Philosophical Foundations of Social Thought* (2nd ed.). Red Globe Press.
- Bernes, J. (2018). The Belly of the Revolution: Agriculture, Energy, and the Future of Communism. In B. R. Bellamy & J. Diamanti (Eds.), *Materialism and the Critique of Energy* (pp. 331–375). MCM'. https://www.mcmprime.com/books/marxism-and-energy
- Bernmar, D. (2017, January 6). Ignore the headlines: A six-hour working day is the way forward. *The Guardian*. https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2017/jan/06/ignore-headlines-six-hour-working-day-swedish
- Bidadanure, J. U. (2019). The Political Theory of Universal Basic Income. *Annual Review of Political Science*, 22(1), 481–501. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-polisci-050317-070954
- Biermann, F., & Kim, R. E. (2020). The Boundaries of the Planetary Boundary Framework: A Critical Appraisal of Approaches to Define a "Safe Operating Space" for Humanity. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources*, 45(1), 497–521. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-012320-080337
- Brand, U., & Wissen, M. (2012). Global Environmental Politics and the Imperial Mode of Living:

 Articulations of State—Capital Relations in the Multiple Crisis. *Globalizations*, *9*(4), 547–560.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/14747731.2012.699928
- Burkett, P. (with Foster, J. B.). (2014). *Marx and Nature: A Red and Green Perspective* (First Trade Paper ed.). Haymarket Books. (Original work published 1999)
- Chambers, S. A. (2018). *There's no such thing as the economy: Essays on capitalist value* (1st ed.). Punctum Books.
- Cieplinski, A., D'Alessandro, S., & Guarnieri, P. (2021). Environmental impacts of productivity-led working time reduction. *Ecological Economics*, *179*, 106822. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2020.106822

- Clark, B., & Foster, J. B. (2009). Ecological Imperialism and the Global Metabolic Rift: Unequal Exchange and the Guano/Nitrates Trade. *International Journal of Comparative Sociology*, *50*(3–4), 311–334. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020715209105144
- Demaria, F., Schneider, F., Sekulova, F., & Martinez-Alier, J. (2013). What is Degrowth? From an Activist Slogan to a Social Movement. *Environmental Values*, 22(2), 191–215. https://doi.org/10.3197/096327113X13581561725194
- Douven, I. (2017). Abduction. In E. N. Zalta (Ed.), *The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy* (Summer 2017 ed.). Metaphysics Research Lab, Stanford University.

 https://plato.stanford.edu/archives/sum2017/entries/abduction/
- Elbe, I. (2013, October 21). Between Marx, Marxism, and Marxisms Ways of Reading Marx's Theory.

 Viewpoint Magazine. https://www.viewpointmag.com/2013/10/21/between-marx-marxism-and-marxisms-ways-of-reading-marxs-theory/
- Fischer-Kowalski, M., & Haberl, H. (2015). Social metabolism: A metric for biophysical growth and degrowth. In J. Martinez-Alier & R. Muradian (Eds.), *Handbook of Ecological Economics* (pp. 100–138). Edward Elgar Publishing.
 - https://www.elgaronline.com/view/edcoll/9781783471409/9781783471409.00009.xml
- Foster, J. B. (2000). Marx's Ecology: Materialism and Nature. Monthly Review Press.
- Frayne, D. (2015). The Refusal of Work: Rethinking Post-Work Theory and Practice. Zed Books.
- Frey, P. (2019). *The Ecological Limits of Work: on carbon emissions, carbon budgets and working time*.

 Autonomy. https://autonomy.work/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/The-Ecological-Limits-of-Workfinal.pdf
- Gómez-Baggethun, E. (2020). More is more: Scaling political ecology within limits to growth. *Political Geography*, *76*, Article 102095. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polgeo.2019.102095
- Gorski, P. (2013). What is Critical Realism? And Why Should You Care? *Contemporary Sociology: A Journal of Reviews, 42,* 658–670. https://doi.org/10.1177/0094306113499533
- Gorz, A. (1997). Farewell to the Working Class: An Essay on Post-Industrial Socialism (M. Sonenscher, trans.). Pluto Press. (Original work published 1980)
- Graeber, D. (2018). Bullshit Jobs: A Theory. Simon & Schuster.
- Hall, R. P., Ashford, R., Ashford, N. A., & Arango-Quiroga, J. (2019). Universal Basic Income and Inclusive Capitalism: Consequences for Sustainability. *Sustainability*, 11(16), Article 4481. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11164481
- Heinrich, M. (2012). *An Introduction to the Three Volumes of Karl Marx's Capital* (A. Locascio, Trans.). Monthly Review Press. (Original work published 2004)
- Hickel, J., & Kallis, G. (2019). Is Green Growth Possible? *New Political Economy*, *25*(4), 469–486. https://doi.org/10.1080/13563467.2019.1598964

- Hoffmann, M. (2017). Change put to work. A degrowth perspective on unsustainable work, postwork alternatives and politics [Master's thesis, Lund University]. http://lup.lub.lu.se/student-papers/record/8904049
- Hoffmann, M., & Paulsen, R. (2020). Resolving the 'jobs-environment-dilemma'? The case for critiques of work in sustainability research. *Environmental Sociology*, *6*(4), 343–354. https://doi.org/10.1080/23251042.2020.1790718
- Horgan, A. (2021). Lost in Work: Escaping Capitalism. Pluto Press.
- Hoynes, H., & Rothstein, J. (2019). Universal Basic Income in the United States and Advanced Countries. *Annual Review of Economics*, 11(1), 929–958. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-economics-080218-030237
- IPBES. (2019). Summary for policymakers of the global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services. IPBES Secretariat. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.3553579
- IPCC. (2014a). Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.

 https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar5/syr/
- IPCC. (2014b). Summary for Policymakers. In *Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.* https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/2018/02/AR5_SYR_FINAL_SPM.pdf
- IPCC. (2018). Summary for Policymakers. In Global Warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty.

 https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/sites/2/2019/05/SR15 SPM version report LR.pdf
- Jaffe, S. (2021). Work Won't Love You Back: How Devotion to Our Jobs Keeps Us Exploited, Exhausted, and Alone. Bold Type Books.
- Joseph, J. (1998). In Defence of Critical Realism. *Capital & Class*, *22*(2), 73–106. https://doi.org/10.1177/030981689806500107
- Kallis, G. (2017). Radical dematerialization and degrowth. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences, 375*(2095), Article 20160383.

 https://doi.org/10.1098/rsta.2016.0383
- Kallis, G. (2019). Capitalism, Socialism, Degrowth: A Rejoinder. *Capitalism Nature Socialism*, *30*(2), 267–273. https://doi.org/10.1080/10455752.2018.1563624
- Kallis, G., Kalush, M., Flynn, H., Rossiter, J., & Ashford, N. (2013). "Friday off": Reducing Working Hours in Europe. *Sustainability*, *5*, 1545–1567. https://doi.org/10.3390/su5041545

- Kallis, G., Kostakis, V., Lange, S., Muraca, B., Paulson, S., & Schmelzer, M. (2018). Research On Degrowth. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources*, 43(1), 291–316. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevenviron-102017-025941
- Komlosy, A. (2018). Work: The Last 1,000 Years (J. K. Watson & L. Balhorn, Trans.). Verso. (Original work published 2014)
- Lafargue, P. (1883). *The Right To Be Lazy* (C. Kerr, Trans.). Charles Kerr and Co., Co-operative. (Original work published 1883) https://www.marxists.org/archive/lafargue/1883/lazy/
- Lenton, T. M., & Williams, H. T. P. (2013). On the origin of planetary-scale tipping points. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 28(7), 380–382. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2013.06.001
- List, C., & Valentini, L. (2016). The Methodology of Political Theory. In H. Cappelen, T. S. Gendler, & J. Hawthorne (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of Philosophical Methodology* (Vol. 1). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199668779.013.10
- Malm, A. (2016). Fossil Capital: The Rise of Steam Power and the Roots of Global Warming (Illustrated ed.).

 Verso.
- Malm, A. (2017). For a Fallible and Lovable Marx: Some Thoughts on the Latest Book by Foster and Burkett. *Critical Historical Studies*, *4*(2), 267–275. https://doi.org/10.1086/693903
- Malm, A. (2018). The Progress of This Storm: Nature and Society in a Warming World. Verso.
- Martinez-Alier, J., & Muradian, R. (2015). Taking stock: The keystones of ecological economics. In J.

 Martinez-Alier & R. Muradian (Eds.), *Handbook of ecological economics* (pp. 1–26). Edward Elgar.
- Marx, K. (1990). *Capital: Volume 1: A Critique of Political Economy* (B. Fowkes, Trans.). Penguin Classics. (Original work published 1867)
- Moore, J. W. (2015). Capitalism in the Web of Life: Ecology and the Accumulation of Capital. Verso.
- Moses, J. (2020). Ontologies, Epistemologies and the Methodological Awakening. In *The SAGE Handbook* of *Political Science* (Vol. 1–3, pp. 447–463). SAGE Publications Ltd. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781529714333
- Munro, K. (2019). "Social Reproduction Theory," Social Reproduction, and Household Production. *Science & Society*, *83*(4), 451–468. https://doi.org/10.1521/siso.2019.83.4.451
- O'Kane, C. (2018). Moishe Postone's New Reading of Marx. *Consecutio Rerum.*, *3*(5), 485–501. http://www.consecutio.org/2018/11/okane_moishe-postones-new-reading-of-marx-the-critique-of-political-economy-as-a-critical-theory-of-the-historically-specific-social-form-of-labor/
- Pfannebecker, M., & Smith, J. A. (2020). *Work Want Work: Labour and Desire at the End of Capitalism* (1st ed.). Zed Books.
- Pirgmaier, E., & Steinberger, J. K. (2019). Roots, Riots, and Radical Change—A Road Less Travelled for Ecological Economics. *Sustainability*, *11*(7), Article 2001. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11072001

- Pöschl, U. (2005). Atmospheric Aerosols: Composition, Transformation, Climate and Health Effects.

 Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 44(46), 7520–7540.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.200501122
- Postone. (1993). Time, Labor, and Social Domination. Cambridge University Press.
- Raworth, K. (2017). *Doughnut Economics: Seven Ways to Think Like a 21st-Century Economist*. Chelsea Green Publishing.
- Rockström, J., Steffen, W., Noone, K., Persson, Å., Chapin, F. S. I., Lambin, E., Lenton, T., Scheffer, M., Folke, C., Schellnhuber, H. J., Nykvist, B., de Wit, C., Hughes, T., van der Leeuw, S., Rodhe, H., Sörlin, S., Snyder, P., Costanza, R., Svedin, U., ... Foley, J. (2009). Planetary Boundaries: Exploring the Safe Operating Space for Humanity. *Ecology and Society*, *14*(2). Article 32. https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-03180-140232
- Schor, J. B. (2005). Sustainable Consumption and Worktime Reduction. *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, *9*(1–2), 37–50. https://doi.org/10.1162/1088198054084581
- Srnicek, N., & Williams, A. (2015). *Inventing the Future: Postcapitalism and a World Without Work*. Verso.
- Steffen, W., Broadgate, W., Deutsch, L., Gaffney, O., & Ludwig, C. (2015). The trajectory of the Anthropocene: The Great Acceleration. *The Anthropocene Review*, *2*(1), 81–98. https://doi.org/10.1177/2053019614564785
- Steffen, W., Richardson, K., Rockström, J., Cornell, S. E., Fetzer, I., Bennett, E. M., Biggs, R., Carpenter, S. R.,
 Vries, W. de, Wit, C. A. de, Folke, C., Gerten, D., Heinke, J., Mace, G. M., Persson, L. M., Ramanathan,
 V., Reyers, B., & Sörlin, S. (2015). Planetary boundaries: Guiding human development on a changing
 planet. *Science*, *347*(6223), 1259855. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1259855
- Stilwell, F. (2012). Political Economy: The Contest of Economic Ideas (3rd ed.). Oxford University Press.
- Stoner, A. M., & Melathopoulos, A. (2018). Stuck in the Anthropocene: The Problem of History, Theory, and Practice in Jason W. Moore and John Bellamy Foster's Eco-Marxism. In Jan Jagodzinski (Ed.), Interrogating the Anthropocene: Ecology, Aesthetics, Pedagogy, and the Future in Question (pp. 105–132). Palgrave Macmillan. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-78747-3
- Thompson, E. P. (1967). Time, Work-Discipline, and Industrial Capitalism. Past & Present, 38, 56-97.
- van den Bergh, J. C. J. M. (2011). Environment versus growth—A criticism of "degrowth" and a plea for "agrowth". *Ecological Economics*, *70*(5), 881–890. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2010.09.035
- Vatn, A. (2015). Environmental Governance: Institutions, Policies and Actions. Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Ward, J. D., Sutton, P. C., Werner, A. D., Costanza, R., Mohr, S. H., & Simmons, C. T. (2016). Is Decoupling GDP Growth from Environmental Impact Possible? *PLOS ONE*, *11*(10), Article e0164733. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0164733
- Weeks, K. (2011). *The Problem with Work: Feminism, Marxism, Antiwork Politics, and Postwork Imaginaries*. Duke University Press Books.

Whiteside, K. H. (1994). Hannah Arendt and Ecological Politics. *Environmental Ethics*, *16*(4), 339–358. https://doi.org/10.5840/enviroethics19941642

Appendix: Glossary

This glossary gives brief explanations of a selection of the terms used throughout the thesis. Each entry also includes a reference to the chapters that give more in-depth information on the term in question.

Abstract labour Is a social function of commodity-producing labour in capitalism, where the specific characteristics of different labours are abstracted away from and made into a homogenised category. (chapter 5.1, chapter 8)

Abstract time is time as a normative standard *for* tasks done as commodity-producing labour. A unit of abstract time is determined by what the social standard of productivity is. (chapter 5.3)

Commodity-producing labour is labour producing goods as services that are to be sold as commodities on the market. (chapter 5)

Concrete labour is the various intentional activities, the specific tasks, that are categorised as labour. (chapter 5.1)

Domestic activities (or "work") are those activities that take place in the household and cannot be categorised as labour. (chapter 6)

Factors are the different dynamics of labour causing its ecological impact. They are Time, Scale, Income and Work-induced mobility, infrastructure (and income, in Hoffmann and Paulsen). (chapter 4.2, 8.4)

Labour (synonymous with **work**) has two slightly different versions. The first is the looser preliminary definition, where labour is waged purposive renumerated activity under capitalism (see introduction to part II). The second is my own specific definition of labour, where it is defined as human activity done for payment within specific historical and social conditions (capitalism). One is paid for one's labour-power, usually for a given time period. (see chapter 8.1)

The first definition is in use up until chapter 8, from where the second takes over and is used for the rest of the thesis.

Labour-Power is a person's capacity to do productive activity, as opposed to actually doing those activities. (chapter 5.4)

Meta-industrial activities (or "labour") are activities that are not labour and broadly conceived produce conditions that allow production to happen. (chapter 6)

Postwork is the politics of going beyond work/labour. In my use this means the abolition of labour, other uses may imply reducing the place work has in society. (chapter 13.1)

Productive activities are human activities done to produce something (goods and services) in the most minimal, general and transhistorical sense. Compared to labour, this term does not itself denote any historically or socially specific conditions. (chapter 8.1)

Socially necessary labour time (SNLT) is the societal standard for the (abstract) time it takes to produce a given commodity. (chapter 5.3)

Value is a purely social, temporal, form of wealth, its substance is objectified abstract labour time. (chapter 5.4)

Value-constituting labour is commodity-producing labour that successfully conforms to socially necessary labour time, and then constitutes value as abstract labour time. (chapter 5.4)

Work see labour.

The **Work Ethic** is a social ethic that places high value on having a job, that is, being someone who does labour. This exaltation of labour happens regardless of what the labour consists of. (chapter 7)

